

WORKING PAPER

DECEMBER 2019

The Case for Transatlantic Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific

Erik Brattberg and Philippe Le Corre

The Case for Transatlantic Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific

Erik Brattberg and Philippe Le Corre

© 2019 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are the authors' own and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieEndowment.org.

+ CONTENTS

Summary	1
Introduction	3
The Limits of Trump's Free and Open Indo-Pacific Strategy	4
Europe's Diplomatic Role	5
Europe's Security Role	12
Europe's Economic Role	18
The Prospects for Transatlantic Cooperation	22
Tangible Ways to Deepen Transatlantic Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific	26
About the Authors	33
Acknowledgments	33
Notes	34

Summary

The evolving strategic dynamics in the Indo-Pacific are of paramount importance for the future of the rules-based international order. While the United States is redirecting strategic focus to the region as part of its Free and Open Indo-Pacific strategy, Europe is also stepping up its role—leveraging a strong economic profile, long-standing bilateral ties, and active engagement in various regional multilateral forums. The European Union (EU) and its member states can make distinct contributions to an open, transparent, inclusive, and rules-based regional order, though not necessarily always in lockstep with Washington.

Though few European countries have formally acknowledged the new U.S. strategy, the concept's emphasis on rules-based order and multilateralism bears many similarities to the EU's own outlook. The EU and many of its member states are becoming more ambivalent about Chinese power and are seeking to counter certain problematic Chinese economic behaviors, and the Indo-Pacific offers opportunities for transatlantic cooperation, though U.S.-EU diplomatic relations under U.S. President Donald Trump are significantly strained. However, the U.S. administration's fixation on short-term transactional diplomacy, lack of commitment to multilateralism, and strong emphasis on Chinese containment are putting a damper on such collaboration with EU members.

Admittedly, Europe does not aspire to be a traditional hard power in Asia, lacks significant military capabilities in the region, and is reluctant to pick sides in the escalating U.S.-China competition. Only two European middle powers—France and the United Kingdom (UK)—can project serious military force in the region, as Europe has long underinvested in defense spending and needs to prioritize more immediate security threats. But Europe can amplify its political and security role in the Indo-Pacific by leveraging the growing Franco-British presence and better utilizing the EU's collective role. Key European countries have already expanded their security footprint in the Indo-Pacific through a more regular naval presence, bilateral and multilateral joint exercises, arms sales, and various other forms of defense cooperation. Europe's economic role is already considerable too, as the EU is a top trade and investment partner of most regional states.

Washington should welcome greater European involvement in the Indo-Pacific. A greater European presence in the region advances the U.S. objective of promoting a tighter regional security architecture with vital partners like Japan and India. Similarly, the EU's support for the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) can help foster a more multilateral, cooperative Asian security architecture. As for economic and trade policy, U.S. and EU interests in the region largely overlap but do diverge in significant ways. While both Europe and the United States are keen on increasing trade flows and addressing unfair Chinese economic practices, the EU's emphasis on free trade has allowed it to either complete trade agreements or launch new negotiations with regional partners like Australia, Japan, and Singapore.

Despite the limitations constraining the transatlantic diplomatic agenda, meaningful joint and/or complementary European and U.S. action in the Indo-Pacific remains achievable, particularly between France, the UK, and the United States, though other European countries and the EU could get involved too. While the EU is not likely to formally endorse the U.S. slogan of a Free and Open Indo-Pacific, Europeans can still meaningfully advance its objectives, which are overwhelmingly consistent with the EU's own interests and values. Washington should encourage this trend and simultaneously seek to do more to incorporate European players as key partners on the implementation of its own Free and Open Indo-Pacific strategy.

Recommendations for Europe:

- Enhance Europe's strategic thinking on the Indo-Pacific
- Build a European consensus on China
- Invest in regional multilateralism
- Double down on nontraditional forms of security assistance
- Identify other ways to contribute to maritime security
- Leverage defense exports to the region
- Invest in regional connectivity

Recommendations for Washington:

- Enhance transatlantic strategic dialogue on the Indo-Pacific
- Keep political messaging in sync
- Clearly convey the U.S. Indo-Pacific strategy to European partners
- Acknowledge the EU's unique complementary role in regional security affairs
- Avoid taking swipes at the EU
- Encourage greater European multilateral participation
- Boost direct transatlantic security cooperation where possible
- Discuss connectivity in the Indo-Pacific more
- Enhance dialogue on export controls and FDI screening

Introduction

Home to billions of people and a sizable share of global economic output, the Indo-Pacific is of paramount importance to the future of the rules-based international order. While the region is a hothouse of commercial activity, it also faces profound strategic challenges, including North Korea's nuclear ambitions and tensions across the Taiwan Strait and in the South China Sea. One of the most striking trends in the Indo-Pacific is the evolving strategic balance between China and the United States, a trend that will have far-reaching consequences for many U.S. allies and partners, including those in Europe.

While its role in Asia often has been overlooked, Europe can make distinct contributions to an open, transparent, inclusive, and rules-based regional order, though not necessarily always in lockstep with Washington. Admittedly, Europe does not aspire to be a traditional hard power in Asia, lacks significant military capabilities in the region, and is reluctant to pick sides in the escalating U.S.-China competition. Yet key European countries are expanding their security footprint in the Indo-Pacific through a more regular naval presence, bilateral and multilateral joint exercises, arms sales, and various other forms of defense cooperation. Europe's economic role is already considerable too. For example, the European Union (EU) and China have one of the largest trading relationships in the world, and the EU is the biggest investor in many Asian countries.² The EU also serves as a rule-setter in the region, having recently completed a massive free trade agreement with Japan.

Europe's growing interests in the Indo-Pacific necessitate an upgraded strategy. There is ample room for transatlantic cooperation in the areas of diplomacy, security, and economics, though coordination must improve and limitations will remain. Despite diplomatic strains on other issues, European and U.S. positions on Asia policy are partially converging, particularly on the challenges posed by China's rise and the need to do more to defend the rules-based international order. Specifically, Brussels and member states' capitals can cultivate a greater political and diplomatic presence in the region, help lead maritime security and freedom of navigation efforts, and expand security assistance and capacity building.

Upgrading Europe's role in the Indo-Pacific and heightening U.S.-European cooperation there will require forethought and effort. Settling on a common transatlantic agenda for the region requires that simmering tensions among European countries on how to deal with China are addressed, as underscored, for instance, by the previous Italian government's March 2019 decision to endorse Beijing's push to fund overseas infrastructure through the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). Further, U.S. President Donald Trump and his administration must balance unilateralism with a greater measure of multilateralism, see Europe as more of a strategic partner, and refrain from protectionist tariffs and other counterproductive polices aimed at the EU.

The Limits of Trump's Free and Open Indo-Pacific Strategy

Previous U.S. administrations sought to encourage China's rise while hedging against its potentially destabilizing consequences. But Trump instead has treated China as an antagonistic competitor that seeks to undermine U.S. primacy, weaken U.S. ties to its regional allies, and dominate Eurasia if not more distant parts of the world.³ Both the 2017 U.S. National Security Strategy and the 2018 National Defense Strategy frame the defining, long-term strategic challenge confronting the United States as great power competition primarily with China (and to a lesser extent with other countries including Russia).⁴ This new U.S. approach posits that the previous policy of engagement with China has failed to encourage Beijing to act as a "responsible stakeholder."⁵ Over the past few years, U.S. perceptions of Beijing's intentions have clearly shifted, with a new bipartisan consensus in Washington on the need to do more to counterbalance the more troubling dimensions of China's rise.⁶

The Trump administration's vision of a "Free and Open Indo-Pacific" encapsulates this strategic focus. Admittedly, it remains unclear whether Washington can allocate the resources needed to accomplish its objectives and coherently wed its strategic ambitions with the interests of other regional actors. The goal is to compete more vigorously with China across several domains both in the Indo-Pacific and beyond (though the two sides could work together on specific problems like the nonproliferation challenge posed by North Korea). Fundamentally, the administration's vision of a Free and Open Indo-Pacific is about safeguarding the sovereignty of other nations in the region, as reflected, for example, in Trump's September 2019 address to the United Nations (UN) General Assembly.8

Other key principles of the U.S. regional strategy include the peaceful resolution of disputes, free and reciprocal terms of trade and investment, and adherence to international rules and norms (such as freedom of navigation and territorial integrity). Several regional partners have already endorsed these principles and are developing their own national strategies to help advance them, though these national strategies are not necessarily identical to the U.S. Free and Open Indo-Pacific strategy.

The U.S. Indo-Pacific strategy encompasses three dimensions: economics, governance, and security. These policies aim to create a mesh of intersecting partnerships among countries affected by and wary of China's rise, but they have been implemented unevenly so far. Ideally, this campaign would be conducted in concert with U.S. allies, but while Trump has made some cursory efforts to do so, the principal focus so far has been on unilateral actions against China on trade, technology access, and cyber theft.

In terms of execution on the messaging front, Washington has issued many erratic and contradictory statements and policies concerning the Indo-Pacific, and this is undermining U.S. credibility. Trump's ambiguous commitment to supporting U.S. allies, his hectoring approach to burden sharing, and his reluctance to clearly affirm the importance of the liberal international order further exacerbate the key challenge facing any Indo-Pacific strategy. That said, in a recent speech, Assistant Secretary of State for East Asian and Pacific Affairs David Stilwell provided some important clarifications on the U.S. approach to China. He stressed pluralism "rooted in the sovereign rights of states" as an organizing principle in the Indo-Pacific. 11

In the end, regional states want to avoid confrontation with China—the biggest trading partner for many of them—even as they seek to escape its domination by deepening ties with Washington. For example, Trump's hostility to international trade is especially noteworthy: pulling out of what was deemed one of the most important regional trade agreements, the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP), undercut the United States' regional economic leadership. For now, the administration's mistakes are vexatious but not yet fatal because most regional actors still value the benefits of U.S. leadership despite the complications brought on by Trump. Ultimately, while the United States and Europe have ample reason to work together to protect their shared interests amid China's economic resurgence, thorny policy differences across the Atlantic continue to constrain and sometimes even undermine such cooperation.

Europe's Diplomatic Role

Diplomacy is central to Europe's contributions to a transatlantic agenda for Asia, given Europeans' track record of pragmatic engagement and commitment to multilateralism.¹² The concept of a Free and Open Indo-Pacific has garnered interest in European capitals. Although the EU institutions and most member states still prefer the Asia Pacific moniker, the inclusiveness of the widened Indo-Pacific regional framework and its strong emphasis on rules-based order closely mirror the EU's own outlook (despite the lack of consensus on its geographical boundaries). Moreover, many Europeans intuitively understand the merits of emphasizing the Indian Ocean more, given how important the Gulf of Aden is to European trade flows.

Yet many Europeans still have reservations about the concept mainly due to the Trump administration's strong emphasis on countering China. While generally sympathetic to the concept's underlying principles, many in Europe lack confidence in the administration's foreign policy, misgivings rooted in several serious policy disagreements and Trump's apparent hostility toward the

EU and multilateralism.¹³ Most European actors are also wary of endorsing the Indo-Pacific concept outright for fear of antagonizing Beijing. For now, most of Europe prefers to wait and see how things develop. Even so, certain member states have been more forward-leaning than others. France, in particular, views the Indo-Pacific construct as central to its own view of the region and role therein (this may be, at least in part, because France maintains overseas territories in both the Indian and Pacific Oceans).¹⁴ Some other European countries and EU officials have also started to occasionally refer to the Indo-Pacific in policy statements and official documents, signaling greater awareness of and receptiveness to the new regional construct.¹⁵

In the meantime, the EU, its member states, and the post-Brexit United Kingdom (UK) all can help promote a Free and Open Indo-Pacific even without formally endorsing the concept. For starters, Europe must recognize that it will remain a relatively minor strategic actor in Asia. Only two European middle powers—France and the UK—can project serious military force in the region, as Europe has long underinvested in defense spending and needs to prioritize more immediate security threats. Notwithstanding these obvious limitations, Europe can amplify its political and security role in the Indo-Pacific by leveraging the Franco-British presence and utilizing the EU's collective role, though the latter might be complicated by Brexit.

Taken together, the EU and its member states maintain a robust diplomatic presence throughout the Indo-Pacific, leveraging a strong economic profile, long-standing bilateral ties, and active engagement in various regional multilateral forums. Unsurprisingly, France and the UK, inter alia, maintain the most extensive network of bilateral and multilateral relationships, but other countries such as Germany are also relevant.

French Engagement in the Indo-Pacific

The Indo-Pacific is crucial for French diplomacy and the country's vision of a stable multipolar order. ¹⁶ The top French priorities in the region are protecting its overseas territories (New Caledonia and French Polynesia in the Pacific Ocean and La Réunion in the Indian Ocean), its extensive exclusive economic zone, and the over 1.6 million overseas French citizens who reside in the region. ¹⁷ France is also keen on increasing defense exports, curbing nuclear proliferation and terrorism, maintaining maritime security and critical trade links, and upholding the rules-based international order.

Under former president François Hollande, France tried to upgrade its security partnerships with regional players such as Australia, India, and Japan and develop new bilateral arrangements with Indonesia, Malaysia, New Zealand, the Philippines, Singapore, and Vietnam.¹⁸ President Emmanuel Macron has intensified these efforts, focusing especially on Australia, India, and Japan, rendering

France by far the most deeply connected European country in the Indo-Pacific today.¹⁹ Growing bilateral ties between France and India are especially noteworthy. The leaders of the two countries meet annually for a bilateral summit.²⁰ At the most recent one held in Paris in August 2019, Macron invited Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi to attend the G7 summit in the French city of Biarritz, where the two countries agreed on joint roadmaps on cybersecurity and digital technology.²¹ Their cooperative agenda spans a host of issues including civil nuclear power, energy policy and climate change, maritime security, and outer space.²² France and India also have a regular maritime security dialogue, the most recent iteration of which took place in New Delhi in November 2019.

Paris and New Delhi also boast a strong partnership in the defense sector. In March 2018, the two countries signed a joint cooperative vision for the Indian Ocean and a separate bilateral logistical cooperation agreement allowing for mutual access to military installations.²³ In addition, France has expanded its defense exports to India, including a \$8.8 billion deal in 2016 to supply thirty-six Rafale fighter jets, the first of which were delivered in October 2019.²⁴ Based on an earlier \$3 billion deal, six Scorpène diesel-electric attack submarines are being built in India under a technology transfer agreement. On the personnel front, France has a liaison officer assigned to the Indian Navy's Information Fusion Center for the Indian Ocean region.²⁵ In November 2019, the chief of staff of the French Navy, Admiral Christophe Prazuck, suggested that France and India were also discussing the possibility of conducting joint naval patrols in the Indian Ocean in 2020.²⁶

France also cooperates significantly with Japan so as to diversify the former's range of security partnerships. Paris and Tokyo already have a two-plus-two ministerial security dialogue involving their foreign and defense ministers, and they also recently finalized a bilateral acquisition and cross-servicing agreement. France and Japan have recently discussed conducting joint naval exercises and launching a new dialogue on maritime cooperation.²⁷

Ties between France and Australia have grown closer in recent years, too, in part because they have similar objectives in the South Pacific. For one thing, France and Australia (along with New Zealand) share a responsibility for conducting disaster relief operations in the Pacific Ocean under the so-called FRANZ Arrangement.²⁸ In March 2017, Paris and Canberra signed a joint statement that involves long-term strategic cooperation in the Indo-Pacific.²⁹ During Macron's visit to Australia in May 2018, he also touted the idea of a "Paris-Delhi-Canberra axis," a regional security triangle designed to uphold the rules-based order and regularly convene the countries' respective defense and foreign ministers.³⁰ More recently, in Sydney, Prazuck said he hoped that Australian warships would escort the French aircraft carrier the Charles de Gaulle when she sails in the Indian Ocean.³¹ Moreover, France and Australia have enjoyed a strong industrial relationship since 2016, when the French company Naval Group (formerly called DCNS) won a \$40 billion contract to supply Australia with twelve new submarines.³²

In addition to cultivating bilateral ties, French ministers and senior diplomats participate in several multilateral regional forums. France is an active founding member—along with Australia, New Zealand, and the United States—of the bilingual, twenty-six-nation Pacific Community, a scientific and technical organization. Paris is also a dialogue partner, attendee, or member of a host of other organizations, including the Indian Ocean Rim Association, the South Pacific Defense Ministers Meeting, the Indian Ocean Naval Symposium, the Western Pacific Naval Symposium, and the Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environmental Program.

France's commitment to multilateralism in Asia even extends beyond these activities. The country coordinates on maritime security in the Southwest Pacific with Australia, New Zealand, and the United States as part of the Quadrilateral Defense Coordination Group. And, as a permanent member of the UN Security Council and a nuclear power, France shares responsibilities for managing the nuclear crisis on the Korean Peninsula and plays an active role on sanctions policy in both the UN and the EU. Moreover, Paris has expressed interest in attending the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) Defense Ministers' Meeting-Plus.

UK Engagement in the Indo-Pacific

Similarly, as Europe's other major military power, the UK is active in Asia to protect its national interests, promote trade and broker arms sales, project global influence and naval power, help ensure freedom of navigation, and uphold the rules-based international order.³³ London has sought to increase its economic, diplomatic, and military presence in the Indo-Pacific in recent years. In part, this approach is a consequence of Brexit and the country's need to forge new trade links in the region and elsewhere and make up for lost geopolitical relevance. Notably, the UK has emphasized expanding trade and foreign direct investment (FDI) with China, a position that could create friction with the Trump administration. For instance, in July 2019, Prime Minister Boris Johnson declared himself "enthusiastic about the Belt and Road."³⁴

The UK's regional security presence is a product of bases, partnerships, and naval deployments and joint exercises. Prominent British regional partners include Australia, India, and Japan as well as smaller Commonwealth countries such as Brunei, Malaysia, New Zealand, and Singapore.

The UK's long-standing military and cultural ties with Australia are instructive. London and Canberra signed an updated treaty on security cooperation in 2017.³⁵ The two countries' foreign and defense ministers also meet for annual deliberations. Moreover, both countries participate in the Five Eyes intelligence-sharing alliance (along with Canada, New Zealand, and the United States) and in a

separate nonbinding defense pact called the Five Power Defense Arrangements (with Malaysia, New Zealand, and Singapore).³⁶ Meanwhile, a British defense firm, BAE Systems, also won a \$26 billion contract in 2018 to supply the Royal Australian Navy with nine antisubmarine frigates.³⁷

British cooperation with Japan runs especially deep as well. The 2015 Strategic Defense and Security Review refers to Japan as the UK's "closest security partner in Asia." In August 2017, former prime minister Theresa May and Prime Minister Shinzo Abe signed a five-page document outlining several concrete areas for strengthened security cooperation. The UK and Japan maintain a regular two-plus-two dialogue between their defense and foreign ministers, and in December 2017, they pledged to step up joint military exercises in the region. Royal Navy ships enforcing UN sanctions off the coast of North Korea have docking rights in Japanese harbors. The Royal Navy has also signed a trilateral defense agreement with the U.S. and Japanese navies to hold more exercises and combined patrols. Similarly, in October 2016, the UK's Royal Air Force and the Japan Air Self-Defense Force held their first-ever joint aerial combat drill in Japan, and two years later, the British Army and the Japan Ground Self-Defense Force held a joint military exercise.

Meanwhile, cooperation between the UK and India is growing but remains challenging. The two countries signed a strategic partnership in 2004, which led to an upgraded partnership on the security front in November 2015, and they have discussed further boosting maritime security cooperation. Like the French Navy, the UK Royal Navy is planning to assign an officer to the Indian Navy's Information Fusion Center for the Indian Ocean region. Despite these signs of limited progress, the two countries face difficulties regarding previous colonial ties and the issue of visas for Indian workers in the UK.

In addition to bilateral relationships, the UK is also part of some of the same multilateral dialogues as France, including the Indian Ocean Rim Association, the Western Pacific Naval Symposium, and the South Pacific Defense Ministers Meeting, as well as others like the Regional Cooperation Agreement on Combating Piracy and Armed Robbery Against Ships in Asia (ReCAAP).

Despite the UK's good intentions, however, Brexit has damaged the country's credibility and hamstrung its desire to boost its presence in Asia. Although London launched a post-Brexit strategy called Global Britain to redirect military, economic, and diplomatic attention to the region, the UK's ability to follow through while the Brexit debate rages on is debatable.⁴⁴ For example, talk of establishing a reinforced British military base in the region remain speculative.⁴⁵

Other European Diplomatic Relationships

Besides France and the UK, other European states naturally also maintain diplomatic relationships across the Indo-Pacific. Taken together, EU member states have fostered over forty strategic partnerships in the region and participate in over sixty bilateral dialogues.⁴⁶ Many European countries engage in regular security dialogues and defense partnerships with countries like Australia, India, Indonesia, Japan, Singapore, South Korea, and even China. Several are also active in some of the aforementioned regional multilateral bodies, including the ASEAN Regional Forum (which EU High Representative for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy Federica Mogherini attended in 2019), as well as others like the Indian Ocean Rim Association, the Indian Ocean Naval Symposium, the Western Pacific Naval Symposium, and ReCAAP. Many of them participate in other multilateral forums and gatherings, too, such as the Asia Pacific Intelligence Chiefs Conference, the Shangri-La Dialogue, the Raisina Dialogue, and the Tokyo Defense Forum. Taken together, the EU's delegations and its member states' many embassies—many of which host defense attachés and military advisers—give Europe an extensive diplomatic network throughout the Indo-Pacific.⁴⁷

Germany, for example, wields considerable economic clout and close diplomatic ties, though little in terms of military power. In particular, German Chancellor Angela Merkel and Abe have reinforced bilateral ties given their shared commitment to free trade and the rules-based international order. German Foreign Minister Heiko Maas has also touted an "alliance of multilateralists" with Japan and other middle powers to serve as a counterweight to growing great-power competition between China and Russia and the United States. This pointed implicit critique of the Trump administration prompts the question of whether U.S. and EU diplomacy may be starting to diverge not just on means but also on ends.

Germany has pursued other avenues of regional diplomacy as well, such as strengthened ties with India. The two countries have had a strategic partnership since 2001 and a defense cooperation agreement since 2006. During Merkel's November 2019 visit to New Delhi, the two sides agreed to strengthen strategic cooperation on trade in agricultural goods, security, cybersecurity, and artificial intelligence. Given Germany's strong dependence on trade flows with Asia, Berlin understandably prioritizes maritime security in the Indian Ocean. Though Germany lacks sizable naval capabilities like France and the UK, it regularly participates in regional maritime exercises and counterpiracy operations in the Indian Ocean; it also is part of the Indian Ocean Rim Association and the Indian Ocean Naval Symposium. Beyond these diplomatic activities, German firms export arms to various Asian countries.

The European Union's Role as a Bloc

Though most EU members prefer to cultivate bilateral ties, the union collectively also wields significant economic influence and normative power, and it remains strongly committed to multilateralism. Notably, the bloc takes common positions on a wide variety of regional foreign policy issues—be it sanctions on North Korea, the Rohingya humanitarian crisis, or the peaceful settlement of territorial disputes in the South China Sea.⁵² That said, common EU statements on many issues of principle such as freedom of navigation in the South China Sea, human rights, freedom of speech in Hong Kong, or relations with Taiwan sometimes are weakened due to Chinese pressure on individual member states.

Brussels is capable of contributing on security affairs too. The EU's preventive diplomacy in the region includes assistance given during Myanmar's democratic transition from military rule, the Nepali civil war, the independence crisis in East Timor, the Mindanao peace process in the Philippines, and stabilization efforts in the Indonesian province of Aceh.⁵³ Since 2011–2012, the EU has attempted to buttress its diplomatic role in Asia and broaden its regional engagement beyond China.⁵⁴ The EU's 2016 Global Strategy reflected these ambitions in stating that Brussels will strive to make "greater practical contributions to Asian security" and "expand . . . partnerships, including on security" with countries like Indonesia, Japan, and South Korea.⁵⁵

The EU's relationship with Japan has progressed the most, amid signs of divergence with the incumbent U.S. administration. Months before launching a landmark free trade agreement in February 2019, Brussels and Tokyo signed a strategic partnership agreement in July 2018 to promote shared values such as human rights and the rule of law by cooperating more on issues like crisis management, peacebuilding, and development policy. In September 2019, the EU and Japan also signed a partnership agreement to cooperate on connectivity. The Trump administration's disruptive foreign policy and protectionism have driven the two middle powers to forge stronger ties. Japan sees the EU as a stable bedrock and supporter of multilateralism, especially as U.S.-Chinese competition is heating up and the rules-based international order is declining.

The EU also has reinforced ties with other regional actors, including Australia and India. A 2017 framework agreement led to a new EU-Australia Joint Committee that convened first in November 2018 and again in June 2019.⁵⁷ The two partners discussed cooperation on issues like cybersecurity threats, foreign interference, counterterrorism, and crisis management. Similarly, the EU has

expressed interest in deepening relations with India, a sentiment echoed in a 2017 joint statement and a 2018 EU strategy document that envisions India playing a "key role in the current multipolar world." That said, progress on European diplomacy with India remains more uneven.

Besides its bilateral relationships with Indo-Pacific states, the EU also staunchly supports a stronger regional security architecture in conjunction with ASEAN, with which it agreed to establish a strategic partnership in January 2019.⁵⁹ The EU and ASEAN maintain regular ministerial dialogues and cooperation frameworks spanning a host of topics, including security issues, regional integration, economic cooperation and connectivity, and cybersecurity.⁶⁰ To help facilitate security cooperation, the EU Delegation to ASEAN hosts counterterrorism experts and military advisers.⁶¹

Over the past decade, the EU has engaged more with other regional multilateral bodies as well. It is a member of the ASEAN Regional Forum (where it has co-chaired a meeting on maritime security). The EU also is keen to join the ASEAN Defense Ministers' Meeting-Plus and wants to gain observer status at the East Asia Summit. (In the latter case, although some members of the summit are hesitant to let the EU join, the union did participate as a guest in 2017.) The EU also wants to strengthen cooperation with the Indian Ocean Rim Association. Meanwhile, both France and the UK would like to attend the ASEAN Defense Ministers' Meeting-Plus in their national capacities.

Another unique vehicle for Europe's engagement with Asia is the biannual Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM); the most recent gathering was in Brussels in October 2018 and convened more than fifty European and Asian countries as well as the EU and ASEAN.⁶² In addition to biannual summits, ASEM runs a permanent secretariat and the Singapore-based Asia-Europe Foundation, which aims to strengthen ties between the two regions and explores opportunities for cooperation and development.

Given the rising economic and political importance of Asia, Europe has strived in recent years to cultivate and strengthen its ties with regional partners. Overall, Europe's political and diplomatic role in the Indo-Pacific should not be discounted. Both the EU and its member states have extensive regional ties and participate in regional multilateral bodies and institutions.

Europe's Security Role

As vital as diplomatic engagement is, security concerns in the Indo-Pacific remain a pressing consideration. European policymakers are becoming more aware of the security challenges a rising China poses both in Europe's neighborhood and in the Indo-Pacific. Many Europeans believe growing tensions between China and its neighbors and the United States, including Beijing's military

ambitions and assertiveness in the South China Sea, are undermining the rules-based international order and imperiling the vital sea lines of communication on which European economies depend. Other top regional security issues for European strategists are nuclear proliferation on the Korean Peninsula and transboundary challenges such as terrorism, piracy, illegal fishing, and organized crime.

Official European foreign policy documents reflect the heightened relevance of strategic developments in Asia. For instance, the EU's 2016 Global Strategy acknowledges that "security tensions in Asia are rising" and notes that "there is a direct connection between European prosperity and Asian security." Europe contributes to security in the Indo-Pacific by maintaining a military presence and bases, participating in maritime security operations and exercises, forging defense partnerships with regional powers, offering capacity building and security assistance, and providing defense exports. Of these priorities, defending freedom of navigation and offering security assistance and capacity building loom especially large.

Maritime Security and Freedom of Navigation

Maritime security and freedom of navigation in the Indo-Pacific matter to Europe because the region is important for maintaining global trade flows and the rules-based international order. While the EU (like the United States) does not pick sides in the South China Sea territorial disputes, EU leaders share U.S. concerns about China's territorial claims and assertive posture. Brussels supports the peaceful settlement of maritime disputes in accordance with international law and the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), as well as regional confidence-building efforts. And the EU has backed a code of conduct and the ruling of the arbitration tribunal in The Hague (though some EU members have disagreed internally).

Because the EU does not always speak uniformly on foreign policy matters concerning China, statements by groups of member states can be especially important. For example, the four European G7 members (France, Germany, Italy, and the UK) have supported strong phrasing on the South China Sea in G7 readouts, including the one from June 2017. 66 More recently in August 2019, the so-called E3 group of Berlin, London, and Paris jointly warned that the situation in the South China Sea "could lead to insecurity and instability." This type of coordination will likely become even more important for positioning Europe as a central global actor after Brexit occurs.

Beyond diplomatic statements, France, the UK, and some other EU members also contribute directly to maritime security and freedom of navigation in the region. France's level of activity is especially notable. With around 7,000 military personnel stationed across the Indo-Pacific, France's military ambitions in the region have evolved considerably since around 2012.68 Former French

defense minister Jean-Yves Le Drian gave a seminal speech at the 2016 Shangri-La Dialogue, calling for a "regular and visible" European presence in the South China Sea.⁶⁹ Le Drian's successor, Defense Minister Florence Parly, reiterated France's commitment again at the Shangri-La Dialogue in 2018 and 2019.⁷⁰ French naval ships have sailed through those waters on several occasions, and France carried out five operations in the region in 2017. Similarly, in May 2018, two French vessels, including the assault ship Dixmude, sailed around the Spratly Islands in the South China Sea.⁷¹ Likewise, in April 2019, a French naval frigate sailed through the Taiwan Strait, drawing a sharp Chinese rebuke (even though the maneuver was not at all unusual).⁷²

The French Navy has been active in other ways too. Since 2017, it has held Mission Jeanne d'Arc, an annual naval training and patrol task force in the region, the latter of which includes a Mistral-class helicopter carrier and a Courbet frigate. Both British and U.S. participants have joined these exercises. In addition, France also has allocated ships in the Indian Ocean under the Bois Belleau 100 mission alongside the U.S. Navy. In February 2019, two frigates, a nuclear attack submarine, and an oil tanker were billed to join the country's Charles de Gaulle aircraft carrier in a strike group.

A few months later, in May 2019, the aircraft carrier joined French destroyers, nuclear attack submarines, and Rafale M naval aircraft in the seventeenth rendition of the annual Varuna maritime exercise with India in the Indian Ocean. That same month, France sent its naval group, including the Charles de Gaulle aircraft carrier, to the first combined naval drills in Asia ever conducted jointly with Australia, Japan, and the United States. France also hosts and regularly participates in other bilateral and multilateral exercises in the region. At the 2019 Shangri-La Dialogue, Parly pledged that France would continue to sail "more than twice a year in the South China Sea." Macron recently announced France's intention to order six new patrol boats which, among other things, would help protect French waters in the South Pacific and the Indian Ocean.

While arguably somewhat less involved than France, the UK also deploys naval forces and participates in military exercises in the Indo-Pacific. UK forces are stationed in Brunei, at a small naval logistics facility in Singapore, and at a new (as of April 2018) permanent British naval base in Bahrain staffed by some 500 troops. On the British-controlled island Diego Garcia in the Indian Ocean, the U.S. Navy also maintains a small military base (though a recent UN court ruling threatens to jeopardize this outpost). British ships regularly participate in sanctions enforcement against North Korea by conducting maritime patrols off the Korean Peninsula. Since 2009, Royal Navy ships also have joined the EU's Operation Atalanta antipiracy mission off the Horn of Africa, a mission that was headquartered in Northwood, the UK, until 2019.

The UK has joined numerous other naval drills and exercises in the Indo-Pacific too. After an isolated deployment in 2013, the UK has consistently deployed ships to the region since 2018 for bilateral and trilateral operations. For instance, in July 2018, British ships joined a French Navy task group for a freedom of navigation exercise in the South China Sea. The HMS *Albion*, a British amphibious warship, then conducted a September 2018 freedom of navigation mission near the Paracel Islands. Similarly, in January 2019, the HMS *Argyll* conducted a drill in the South China Sea with the U.S. Navy and participated in Exercise Bersama Lima 2018 with the navies of Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia, and Singapore. In February 2019, the HMS *Montrose* conducted a joint training drill with the U.S. Navy in the South China Sea before participating in a trilateral antisubmarine exercise together with the U.S. Navy and Japan Self-Defense Forces in March 2019. In December 2019, the HMS *Enterprise* survey vessel sailed through the Taiwan Strait as the Royal Navy continued to step up its presence in the Indo-Pacific.

The Royal Navy has held other joint exercises with Japan and the United States as well. Recently, former British defense secretary Gavin Williamson stated that the UK would deploy the new HMS *Queen Elizabeth* aircraft carrier and its accompanying battle group in the Pacific by 2021, including to the South China Sea. He also mentioned plans to send a littoral strike group to the Indo-Pacific, though the status of this forthcoming deployment remains unclear. In the past two years, France and the UK have begun coordinating more in the region and have even spoken of deploying a combined carrier strike group, though no concrete plans to do so have yet materialized. The states of the Royal Pacific and the UK have begun coordinated the region and have even spoken of deploying a combined carrier strike group, though no concrete plans to do so have yet materialized.

Their expanding presence in the Indo-Pacific could encourage other European countries to get more involved and further amplify Europe's overall efforts. For example, Dutch and German uniformed officers have already participated in French-led naval operations. The German government has also deliberated internally over whether to more actively contribute to similar freedom of navigation exercises in the South China Sea in 2020, but Berlin has not yet made any such announcements. Meanwhile, Denmark, the Netherlands, and Portugal are all expected to take part in planned French-led naval operations in the Pacific. In addition, the Netherlands has pledged to send a ship to join a British carrier group to be deployed in the area. Moreover, other European countries like Denmark, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, and Norway regularly partake in the U.S.-led, biannual Rim of the Pacific (or RIMPAC) exercises. Other European states have contributed to the ASEAN International Fleet Review maritime exercise.

Numerous European countries—including Denmark, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, and the UK—have also contributed to Combined Task Force 150, a U.S.-led coalition based in Bahrain to secure the coast off the Horn of Africa in the Western Indian Ocean.

The French-led European Intervention Initiative, which has thirteen European members (including the UK), has recently established a working group devoted to the Indian Ocean so members can share information on regional security issues.⁹¹

Even if European countries rarely conduct full-fledged freedom of navigation operations in the South China Sea, their symbolically vital presence nonetheless complements U.S.-led freedom of navigation efforts and lends international support and legitimacy to such efforts. What is more, given their more low-key profile in the region, European-led maritime missions might, in theory, more easily induce other Asian partners to join than U.S.-led operations can.

While the EU itself does not participate in freedom of navigation exercises in the South China Sea, EU naval forces have patrolled the Western Indian Ocean for over a decade through Operation Atalanta. Other partners like New Zealand and South Korea also have contributed to this operation. The mission has helped the EU strengthen military ties with and conduct outreach to other regional players such as India, Japan, and even China (by escorting ships making deliveries for the UN World Food Program). For example, Operation Atalanta and the Indian Navy have delivered humanitarian aid to Somalia and joined maritime domain awareness efforts in the Western Indian Ocean. Brussels and New Delhi are discussing other ways to bolster maritime cooperation, such as a recent port visit by the EU Naval Force to Mumbai. During the summer of 2019, in response to the tensions between the United States and Iran surrounding the Strait of Hormuz, EU leaders also discussed further upgrading the EU's maritime security responsibilities, though no new such mechanisms have been established yet. Help and the Strait of Hormuz are such mechanisms have been established yet.

Security Assistance and Capacity Building

The EU is also involved in limited forms of security assistance and capacity building in the Indo-Pacific. While the EU has pledged to "scale up" its security role in Asia and has expressed strong interest in regional maritime security, Brussels's role will probably remain limited.⁹⁵ Most likely, Europe will continue to be confined largely to low-key capacity building, training, technical assistance, and confidence-building measures.

In that spirit, in May 2018, the foreign ministers of EU member states endorsed a plan to increase coordination between EU institutions and member states operating in Asia in key priority areas.⁹⁶ Under existing financial arrangements, the EU has already launched plans for heightened cooperation with five pilot countries: India, Indonesia, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam in the areas of counterterrorism, cybersecurity, maritime security, and crisis management.⁹⁷ Additional funding has been proposed to cover policy dialogue and support, cooperation and capacity building, and

public diplomacy. Regional partners, including Australia, New Zealand, South Korea, and Vietnam, have also already signed framework agreements with the EU to contribute to future EU crisis management operations.

Meanwhile, the EU has held meetings between the chair of the EU Military Committee and regional counterparts and assigned security officials to delegations in the Indo-Pacific. A current proposal would expand this initial investment under the upcoming EU budget for 2021 to 2027. While a fairly modest effort, the EU's regional partners have indicated that they would like to deepen security cooperation with the EU.

Brussels also values fostering ties with regional multilateral venues. Well-established EU support for ASEAN covers sensitive issues such as maritime security, cybersecurity, and violent extremism. ¹⁰⁰ For example, Brussels and ASEAN maintain a regular, high-level cooperative dialogue on maritime security covering law enforcement at sea, maritime connectivity, marine environmental cooperation and joint development of natural resources, and conflict prevention. ¹⁰¹ The EU also helps the ASEAN Coordinating Center for Humanitarian Assistance handle disaster management among ASEAN members, although internal divisions with ASEAN do constrain the extent of this security cooperation. ¹⁰²

Individual European states also provide various forms of security assistance to regional partners. For instance, the UK Royal Navy supports regional maritime domain awareness initiatives in the Indian Ocean, supports policy training for the Jakarta Center for Law Enforcement Cooperation, and provides assistance to the Regional Humanitarian Assistance and Disaster Relief Coordination Center in Singapore. Similarly, the Dutch Ministry of Defense's Peacekeeping Center has regular exchanges with China, Malaysia, and Vietnam, while multiple Southeast Asian states participate in the Netherlands Defense Orientation Course. 104

Some EU members have gotten involved with multilateral organizations too. Denmark, the Netherlands, Norway, and the UK all participate in the antipiracy efforts of ReCAAP, and France has recently applied to become a member.¹⁰⁵ The EU and many of its member states regularly provide humanitarian assistance and relief missions during disasters in the region, such as after the 2004 Indian Ocean earthquake and tsunami, the 2010 Fukushima tsunami in Japan, and the 2014 typhoon in the Philippines.

Though modest, these forms of EU assistance can foster local goodwill for Europe and help Brussels strengthen ties with Asian nations. While the EU's more low-key security contributions in the Indo-Pacific may be limited, they still add value and arguably complement more hard power—

oriented U.S.-led efforts (though the U.S. government admittedly also provides extensive capacity building and humanitarian assistance). ¹⁰⁶ As Washington doubles down on strategic competition with Beijing, the EU wants to present itself as a more neutral, values-driven partner. Europe's soft-power posture may be attractive to some regional states in Asia that are wary of choosing sides in the emerging U.S.-China competition.

That said, certain complications and uncertainties remain. Most regional states in the Indo-Pacific still do not perceive the EU as a strategically relevant player. ¹⁰⁷ Consequently, some are skeptical of the EU's nontraditional approach. ¹⁰⁸ Moreover, the EU's views of China have hardened in certain respects, especially on the economic front. Hardening European sentiments about China could reshape how Indo-Pacific states perceive the EU as a potential partner. The fallout from Brexit also could impact the EU's perceived foreign policy clout among regional players in Asia.

Europe's Economic Role

While Brussels sometimes struggles to pursue a coherent, common foreign policy, the EU wields considerable clout as the world's largest economic bloc. EU trade in goods with Asia totaled 1.5 trillion euros in 2018.¹⁰⁹ Europe is also a major source of FDI in Asia. With the Trump-led United States departing from its traditional embrace of free trade, Europe stands to gain regional credibility and influence by presenting itself as a firm promoter of free and open trade. At the same time, the EU increasingly shares many interests with the United States on addressing unfair Chinese trade practices and economic behavior, even if the two sides' preferred remedies vary greatly. Two main dimensions of Europe's economic role in Asia are trade and infrastructure connectivity.

Promoting Trade

Brussels continues to promote free and open trade by opposing protectionism and reaching new trade deals with like-minded regional partners. At the same time, the serious challenges facing the multilateral economic system have driven the EU to do more on the trade front. Moreover, the economic nationalism of the Trump administration has paradoxically provided the EU with new opportunities to present itself as an attractive partner to like-minded countries in Asia by staunchly defending open trade and opposing protectionism.

The results of Europe's proactive trade policy speak volumes: since 2011, the EU has secured free trade agreements with Japan, Singapore, and Vietnam on top of the one it already had with South Korea. Taken together, these agreements allow the EU to expand its leadership role on global trade

and export its preferred trade rules and standards. The ambitious EU-Japan free trade agreement is especially striking because the two markets jointly account for roughly one-quarter of the global economy and will be one of the world's largest free trade areas. 110 When the United States withdrew from the TPP and imposed tariffs on imports of steel and aluminum (and potentially cars) for national security reasons, it became even more pressing for Japan to complete a trade deal with the EU.

Other trade deals may be on the horizon. The EU is still in talks with Indonesia, Malaysia, and Thailand (with an eye toward a future EU-ASEAN bloc-to-bloc deal), and the union also recently initiated trade negotiations with Australia and New Zealand. Meanwhile, EU-India trade talks are proving more difficult given New Delhi's aversion to deeper free trade agreements (though there are recent signals that talks may restart again).111

The EU's changing regional trade role also stems from its more critical attitude toward China. While most European capitals in the past have viewed China in mainly neutral commercial terms, Brussels has grown more frustrated with Beijing's perceived inability to curb intellectual property theft and forced technology transfers, cut back on subsidies for state-run firms, or deliver reciprocal market access for European companies. Further, the EU has bristled at the sharply increasing rate at which Chinese investors have sought to acquire European strategic assets and critical infrastructure over the past decade.

Europe's shifting stance on China's economic behavior is already having tangible effects. Several European states, including France and Germany, have tightened their national rules for inbound Chinese investment and advocated for a more coordinated EU approach to Chinese strategic investments in European technological assets and infrastructure. In early 2017, France, Germany, and Italy wrote to the president of the European Commission at the time, Jean-Claude Juncker, asking him to explore ways to protect European interests on this front.¹¹²

After two years of negotiations, the EU agreed to establish a screening mechanism for foreign investments in April 2019, a remarkably fast turnaround for such an initiative.¹¹³ Granted, the new EU framework imposes no binding requirements or limitations on FDI in Europe and will not be fully activated until late 2020. Still, the measure could improve coordination between EU member states and the European Commission, and it could help countries with their own national screening mechanisms. The new legislation marks a clear shift in the EU's free trade policy and highlights Europe's growing determination to support a more level playing field vis-à-vis China.

Along the same lines, in March 2019, the European Commission and the European External Action Service (EEAS) jointly labeled China "an economic competitor in . . . pursuit of technological leadership" and a "systemic rival," even accusing Beijing of "promoting alternative models of governance."¹¹⁴ This co-written document proposed ten priorities for balancing the EU's relationship with China. At the most recent EU-China summit in Brussels in April 2019, EU officials successfully pushed their Chinese counterparts to sign a joint statement that endorsed many of the EU's key demands for reforms related to industrial subsidies. ¹¹⁵ In November 2019, the EU managed to get China to commit to an agreement to protect European geographical indications. ¹¹⁶

The implementation of these commitments will help determine whether the EU takes further steps to hold China accountable. Key tests will be the EU-China summit in Beijing in April 2020 and the summit with China and the national leaders of the union's twenty-eight (twenty-seven after Brexit occurs) member states organized by the German presidency of the European Council for September 2020 in Leipzig. In addition to trade defense modernization and investment screening, figuring out how to ensure reciprocity in public procurement will likely be another major sticking point.

Notably, several of these efforts predate the Trump administration, which has encouraged Europeans to impose stricter conditions on investment screening with respect to China. Germany and several other countries have sought to update and tighten existing national legislation for FDI screening over the past two years.¹¹⁷ For example, the German government decided to block a Chinese attempt to acquire the German chip equipment manufacturer AIXTRON in 2016, after the U.S. government's investment-screening body, the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS), reached a similar decision.

Improving Connectivity

Besides trade, China's role in global connectivity and infrastructure investment is also noteworthy for the EU.¹¹⁸ Many in Europe have mixed feelings about China's push to invest in overseas infrastructure through the BRI.¹¹⁹ Several European governments are admittedly attracted by Chinese offers of infrastructure financing. Amid the austerity measures that followed the 2007–2008 financial crisis, several Eastern, Central, and Southern European countries have turned to China for infusions of capital. Yet concerns remain.

The EU has grown cautious and apprehensive about Beijing's intentions and how some BRI projects are being implemented. Common European concerns about the BRI include a perceived lack of respect for labor rights, environmental protections, and human rights; insufficient transparency and

open procurement procedures; and fears of unsustainable debt burdens, especially in the Balkans where most countries are struggling economically.¹²⁰ Finally, Europe is wary of the BRI's geopolitical ramifications and efforts by Beijing to cultivate ties with individual European capitals that could undermine European unity. China is pursuing inroads through annual summits with countries in Central and Eastern Europe under the aegis of the so-called 16+1 framework.¹²¹

Maintaining EU unity on the BRI is highly challenging. About half of the EU's member states including Greece, Hungary, Italy, and Portugal—have broken ranks and signed on to cooperate with the BRI.¹²² Several European leaders attended the second BRI Forum in Beijing in April 2019 to Beijing's great satisfaction. At the same time, the EU also released a significant new September 2018 strategy for connecting Europe and Asia and cogently responding to the BRI. 123 This document explores how to improve energy links and digital and transport connectivity throughout Asia. Europe's goal is to establish norms and rules for connectivity projects, with a strong emphasis on sustainability and respect for the rules-based international system. To this end, the EU would seek to allocate as much as 60 billion euros in common EU funding for connectivity projects in Eurasia. 124 On the personnel front, the EU has appointed the first-ever ambassador-at-large for connectivity in the EEAS.

But it remains to be seen whether the EU can partner with like-minded countries, implement regional and country-specific strategies, communicate its plans effectively to recipient states, and allocate sufficient long-term funding. In a landmark development, the EU and Japan signed a September 2019 deal to coordinate on transport, energy, and digital infrastructure projects linking Europe and Asia based on "sustainability, quality infrastructure and a level playing field." 125 As Abe put it at the event in Brussels announcing the deal, Europe and Japan can "build sustainable, rulesbased connectivity from the Indo-Pacific to the Western Balkans and Africa."126 Europe is also contemplating similar connectivity agreements with other potential Asian partners.

Unlike the United States' stance, the EU's position on the BRI is to engage with China rather than try to isolate it. Many Europeans believe the BRI could be hugely positive as long as it adheres to EU market rules, meets international requirements and standards, and complements EU policies and projects. Brussels, therefore, is not seeking to derail the BRI but rather to explore possible synergies on a case-by-case basis. That said, while the EU's connectivity strategy is not intended to be in direct opposition to China's plans, it is certainly a response to the BRI and reflects growing European concerns about the Chinese initiative.

The Prospects for Transatlantic Cooperation

The United States largely welcomes growing European ambitions and relevance in Asia as a foundation for increased transatlantic cooperation. Though few European countries have formally acknowledged the U.S. strategy for a Free and Open Indo-Pacific, the concept's emphasis on rules-based order and multilateralism does resonate with U.S. partners in Europe. This is even more true as the EU and many of its member states have become more ambivalent about Chinese power and sought to counter certain problematic Chinese behaviors. Europe has expressed interest in working more closely with Washington on addressing these shared concerns, but so far to little avail.

Europeans are receptive to cooperating with the United States in ways that emphasize multilateralism and the rules-based order, but the U.S. administration's fixation on transactional diplomacy or Chinese containment constrains such collaboration. Despite these obvious limitations, there are areas where the United States could work more closely with its European allies and partners on security and economic policy coordination in the Indo-Pacific.

Transatlantic Security Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific

Europe has the potential to contribute to regional security in the Indo-Pacific and has displayed a conditional openness to stronger policy coordination. Though new channels for transatlantic discussions about China and the Indo-Pacific are materializing, the U.S.-EU strategic relationship still lacks regular venues for discussing these and other foreign policy and security issues.¹²⁷ For such strategic discussions to be fruitful, the Trump administration should abandon euroskepticism. While U.S. officials have sent some signals of a transatlantic reset, European trust in the Trump administration remains low.¹²⁸

Though transatlantic ties are strained, there is room for meaningful, complementary (though not necessarily *joint*) action in the Indo-Pacific, particularly among France, the UK, and the United States, though other European countries and the EU could get involved too. Washington should welcome greater European involvement in the region. From Washington's perspective, having European partners take on a bigger security role in the Indo-Pacific can help demonstrate international support for freedom of navigation and a rules-based regional order.

Freedom of navigation operations in the South China Sea are an important example of the difference that transatlantic cooperation can make. The greater frequency and larger nature of French and British-led operations in recent years, though generally not as far-reaching as U.S.-led operations, still send a strong message to Beijing and encourage other countries to get involved.¹²⁹ This includes

other European countries and Southeast Asian states that may otherwise fear that China would deem such shows of support too provocative. Moreover, a greater European presence in the Indo-Pacific also advances the U.S. objective of promoting a tighter regional security architecture with vital partners like Japan. Similarly, the EU's support for ASEAN can help foster a more multilateral, cooperative Asian security architecture.

Other potential areas for greater U.S.-European cooperation in the Indo-Pacific include human rights, cross-strait relations, the protests in Hong Kong, and North Korea's nuclear weapons program. The United States and the EU could enhance dialogue on human rights and good governance in the region—areas in which the EU is especially well suited to play a leading role. But the Trump administration's limited interest in these issues will constrain transatlantic collaboration, as Europeans hardly view the incumbent U.S. government as a credible partner on human rights. The EU and the United States are approaching human rights differently as Secretary of State Mike Pompeo's remarks about "unalienable rights" imply, a stance that many European countries fear will infringe on reproductive rights and the rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ) communities. The EU has more regional credibility to effectively engage on these issues.

Taiwan and Hong Kong also offer opportunities for coordinated U.S. and European action. Given that the United States and the EU share an interest in supporting Taiwan as a free and democratic society, they should explore whether a designated U.S.-EU coordination mechanism could advance civil society engagement and promote Taiwan's participation in multilateral forums.¹³¹ Such efforts will be especially critical as the island prepares for major presidential and parliamentary elections in January 2020. On Hong Kong, there has been little direct U.S.-EU coordination to date on joint statements condemning violence, whereas the EU and Canada have issued a joint statement on the city's ongoing protests.¹³²

U.S.-European cooperation on North Korea has more hurdles to overcome. European capitals increasingly recognize that Pyongyang poses not merely a proliferation risk but also a potential threat to international security and even to the security of Europe itself.¹³³ And European officials have conferred with their U.S. counterparts on the North Korean nuclear program and sought reassurances from the Trump administration regarding its approach. But, unlike during the negotiations on the Iran nuclear deal when the EU as well as France, Germany, and the UK were actively involved, it is hard to see what diplomatic role, if any, the EU can play on North Korea given the circumstances. (That said, some EU member states such as Sweden continue to help facilitate talks through its Pyongyang diplomatic mission.)¹³⁴ Moreover, transatlantic disagreements over the Iran nuclear deal and the Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces Treaty also illustrate why more U.S.-European dialogue on nonproliferation and arms control is needed.

Ultimately, the prospects for transatlantic security cooperation in the Indo-Pacific are limited given that European mistrust for the Trump administration's foreign policy is widespread and several U.S. policies have undermined transatlantic relations. And though Europe shares U.S. concerns about how Chinese authoritarianism could imperil the rules-based order, most Europeans do not subscribe to Washington's embrace of great power competition with Beijing. The U.S. government should explain where it sees its relationship with China going, clarify what role multilateralism with European partners might play, and rectify counterproductive policies that are harming the EU.

Transatlantic Economic Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific

As for economic and trade policy, U.S. and EU interests in the region largely overlap but do diverge in significant ways. While both Europe and the United States are keen on increasing trade flows and addressing unfair Chinese economic practices, the EU is emphasizing free trade, whereas the Trump administration seems more interested in securing U.S. strategic advantages.

The EU's hardening views on China provide an opportunity for deeper transatlantic cooperation, although Brussels and Washington have their own trade disagreements to work through. U.S.-EU trade talks were not completed during the presidency of Barack Obama, but the two sides still could create new global standards and norms for trade and investment. Negotiations resumed and progressed somewhat after the July 2018 summit between Trump and Juncker, but lingering disagreements and the administration's looming threat to impose auto tariffs threaten to derail things again. Even worse, Trump has repeatedly rebuffed the idea of joining hands with Europe on addressing shared economic concerns about China and even suggested on several occasions that the EU is "worse" than China on trade.

This U.S.-European impasse is unfortunate because Americans and Europeans largely want the same things from China on trade and investment.¹³⁷ Both Washington and Brussels are demanding more reciprocal access to the Chinese market for Western companies, more robust efforts to prevent intellectual property theft and forced technology transfers, and fewer distortive state subsidies and other benefits for Chinese state-owned firms. The lion's share of Chinese FDI in the EU is injected by state-owned enterprises, although some Chinese private companies (often with state lending) are also participating.

The United States and the EU are each negotiating bilateral agreements with China to set rules for foreign investment. During their latest annual summit in April 2019, European and Chinese leaders committed to stepping up negotiations to reach an agreement by 2020. New European Commission President Ursula von der Leyen is expected to push hard on this issue, as is Germany during its

upcoming presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2020. The investment screening mechanism the EU unveiled in early 2019 could be a starting point for more regular transatlantic sharing of information and best practices.¹³⁸ The relevant experience of the U.S. counterpart body, CFIUS, could provide valuable lessons for European member states seeking to enhance its own regulatory frameworks. Washington and Brussels should also confer on related issues such as intellectual property protection, technology transfers, and export controls.

But for such cooperation to be effective, Washington must rediscover the value of multilateral institutions, while continuing to rigorously advocate necessary reforms and greater reciprocity. Trilateral U.S.-EU-Japan talks on how to reform the World Trade Organization (WTO) are crucial and should be a higher priority, but this would require Washington to abandon its intransigent opposition to the WTO appellate body and threats to withhold funding from the institution.

Moreover, the United States should consider how its own rhetoric and policies toward the EU have undermined transatlantic cooperation on China and provided openings for Beijing in Europe. The Trump administration's negative attitude toward the EU and strong preference for bilateral dealings with individual member states is ultimately shortsighted and counterproductive. Washington needs to be more aware that most countries in Europe are keen to maintain a balanced economic relationship with China and will be reluctant to choose between the two should the Trump administration push for economic decoupling. In the telecommunications sector, the case of Chinese manufacturer Huawei and its push for 5G in Europe suggests that U.S. diplomatic pressure that is too heavy-handed risks backfiring and may reinforce skepticism in Europe about Washington's intentions toward China. 139

Yet, policy differences notwithstanding, there is significant potential for greater transatlantic cooperation on connectivity in the Indo-Pacific. In particular, the United States and the EU should team up to better coordinate efforts to offer alternative forms of financing for large-scale infrastructure projects, as well as to establish and popularize related rules and best practices. To this end, the U.S. government should invite the EU to join initiatives on connectivity with Australia and Japan, such as the Blue Dot Network. 140 That said, the disconnect between Washington's outright dismissal of the BRI and the EU's more pragmatic conditional embrace of it remains a major impediment to transatlantic cooperation on this frontier. 141

Even so, the EU and the United States should pursue complementary though not necessarily joint approaches to economic connectivity. It is unrealistic to think that the BRI can be stopped, as many countries throughout Eurasia have a legitimate need for infrastructure investment. While none can compete with China in terms of the sheer scale of investment, U.S. and European actors may have

an edge on soft connectivity projects related to digital and telecommunications networks and corresponding governance standards. Despite their differing approaches, the EU and the United States share common objectives to rally around, while leaving each partner free to determine which methods to use in pursuit of those goals.

While difficult, transatlantic cooperation on connectivity in Eurasia is worthwhile. It could help Western countries be more competitive and attractive partners to regional states in the Indo-Pacific or even incentivize Chinese lenders to be more accountable and transparent. A good example of this is the establishment of the China-led Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB). Although a Chinese-backed institution, the bank is significantly more transparent and open than the BRI and counts several EU countries among its members. Three of its five vice presidents are European nationals. Western countries should also do more to support political systems in the Indo-Pacific and elsewhere that respect the rule of law, so as to shore up these countries' domestic abilities to withstand destabilizing forms of Chinese political influence and negotiate better deals with Beijing.

Tangible Ways to Deepen Transatlantic Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific

The EU, its member states, and the post-Brexit UK all have strong reasons to deepen regional engagement even more. Despite the limitations constraining the transatlantic diplomatic agenda, meaningful joint and/or complementary European and U.S. action in the Indo-Pacific remains achievable. There are some steps Europeans can take on their own to improve their outlook in the region and increase potential synergies with U.S. policymakers, and there are also a host of measures that the two sides can pursue in concert.

Strengthening Europe's Presence in the Indo-Pacific

There is much Europeans can do to improve their standing in the Indo-Pacific. The EU should explicitly single out the importance of the region for the future of the rules-based international order. Though the EU need not formally endorse the U.S. slogan of a Free and Open Indo-Pacific, Europeans can still meaningfully advance its objectives, which are overwhelmingly consistent with the EU's own interests and values. Specifically, European policymakers and bureaucrats of all stripes should:

Enhance Europe's strategic thinking on the Indo-Pacific: European policymakers must demonstrate a firm grasp of strategic developments in the region, their long-term relevance for the international order, and Europe's role in shaping a stable Indo-Pacific order. Despite being a bit short

on details, the 2016 European Global Strategy marked a welcome step in the right direction, stressing the EU's intention to make "greater practical contributions to Asian security" and forge stronger regional partnerships. ¹⁴³ A March 2019 strategic document elucidated the EU's strategy toward China, but a wider, holistic regional outlook is still needed. ¹⁴⁴

The EEAS should consider developing a new regional strategy for the Indo-Pacific, as it already has for Central Asia. Since the Indo-Pacific framework is likely to remain controversial in the EU, adopting parallel strategies for the Pacific Ocean and for the Indian Ocean might be a more attractive option. In such documents, the new EU leadership led by High Representative Josep Borrell should identify its core interests and objectives in these respective subregions, outline which principles of a Free and Open Indo-Pacific Europe endorses, clarify that it does not seek to contain China, and describe how it will help promote a rules-based regional order. Ideally such a strategic exercise would also help forge stronger consensus among EU members. Though most EU member states do not necessarily share France's security interests in Asia, Paris especially should actively engage with other interested EU capitals to share its own experience with adopting an Indo-Pacific strategy.

Build a European consensus on China: The EEAS's March 2019 document on a joint China policy for Europe marked a firm shift in the EU's views, naming China an "economic competitor" and "systemic rival." Europeans must continue to forge a consensus on China, lest Beijing succeed in dividing EU members. In the past, the EU has struggled with unity, as seen when Greece and Hungary opposed a strong common EU statement in 2016 on the South China Sea or Chinese human rights violations.

Several European countries, including the Netherlands and Sweden, are revising or developing China and Asia strategies in light of recent strategic developments.¹⁴⁷ Brussels should leverage these policy discussions to instill a sense of European common purpose. While the EU will and should remain a neutral player in Asia, it should firmly uphold international law and a rules-based regional order on issues like the applicability of UNCLOS in the South China Sea, Taiwan and cross-strait relations, and human rights and the rule of law in places like Hong Kong and Xinjiang.

Invest in regional multilateralism: Europe does not want the Indo-Pacific to become polarized between the United States and its partners on the one hand and China on the other. Given its small strategic role in the region and limited ability to reduce the growing U.S.-China rivalry, Europe should invest more in regional cooperative platforms and multinational governance structures. Primary among these platforms is ASEAN, for which the EU's own integration experience could be instructive. In addition to strengthening bilateral, trilateral, and minilateral relationships with like-minded partners such as Australia, India, and Japan, Europeans should further strengthen ties

with other countries like Indonesia, Singapore, and Vietnam. These types of relationships can provide regional partners more space to maneuver and more hedging options as great power competition increases. They can take the form of bilateral arrangements between the EU or individual member states and individual Indo-Pacific partners, or they can be trilateral discussions such as the evolving France-India-Australia dialogue.

Double down on nontraditional forms of security assistance: The EU should scale up its security assistance in Asia with more funding under the next multiannual EU budget. Some of Europe's regional partners—many of whom are uncomfortable with growing U.S.-China competition in the region—would welcome greater European involvement. EU institutions and member states should also coordinate their policies more on regional issues like maritime security, counterterrorism, cybersecurity, nonproliferation, peacekeeping, and hybrid threats.

Identify other ways to contribute to maritime security: France and the UK should continue to lead Europe on maritime security and freedom of navigation operations in the Indo-Pacific, especially around the South China Sea. In the same spirit, Paris and London should bolster cooperation with each other (possibly as part of a combined task group deployment) and encourage other EU members to contribute. By supporting and participating in French or British-led missions, other EU states can send a political signal or make Paris or London less exposed to potential Chinese diplomatic retaliation.

If contributing to a freedom of navigation operation in the South China Sea is too confrontational for some European militaries, they could consider other forms of participation such as joining French or British warships en route to their destination. Moreover, including ASEAN countries—who might be hesitant about operating alongside the United States—in Europe-led regional operations and exercises would also help integrate the regional security order more deeply. However, it is important that Europe's actions in the region not be directed against China but rather aimed at upholding the rules-based regional order and supporting the sovereignty of regional partners to resist Chinese pressure.

In fact, Europe's greatest added value on regional maritime security may not primarily take the form of freedom of navigation in the South China Sea but rather involve addressing emerging challenges such as illegal fishing. Similarly, Europeans ought to get more involved with training and maritime security duties on issues for which Europe has unique expertise to offer, such as conflict prevention and sustainable resource management.

Leverage defense exports to the region: The fact that Europe is a major exporter of arms to Asia gives European countries significant strategic influence in the region. A strong defense sector

relationship gives Europe influence and relevance in Asia that it otherwise would lack because of its relatively small military presence. These relationships could help Europe foster closer bilateral military-to-military partnerships with key Asian states, but this also requires doing more to coordinate on a common EU arms export policy.¹⁴⁸

Invest in regional connectivity: There is untapped potential for Europe to deepen cooperation with regional partners on connectivity, like the EU and Japan have already done. Similar agreements could be explored with other like-minded regional partners such as Australia, Singapore, and South Korea. Focusing on connectivity would allow the EU to become a more attractive economic partner and a more strategic player in the region. European investment in regional infrastructure should be complemented with more capacity building and governance support, especially for countries in Southeast Asia.

A crucial test for the EU's regional credibility will be whether the next multiannual financial framework actually allocates the roughly 60 billion euros that EU officials have said is needed to implement the EU's new connectivity strategy in Asia. 149 Following through would demonstrate the EU's viability as a regional partner for high-standard connectivity projects and help reinforce the European Commission's desire to be a more consequential geopolitical actor. Admittedly, some EU member states would rather prioritize spending on infrastructure projects in Europe. Proponents of greater European investments in Asia will need to balance these competing priorities and convince skeptics that shoring up the rules-based international order is imperative to Europe's collective future success.

Bolstering Transatlantic Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific

More transatlantic cooperation in the Indo-Pacific is possible with some obvious limitations and caveats. The United States should recognize that Europe can be a key partner in the region, even if the two sides are not always in lockstep. Washington should recognize that too much heavyhandedness and unilateralism toward China is likely to ostracize key U.S. partners, such as the EU and Japan, who are more in favor of rules, institutions, and multilateralism. Specifically, the United States and Europe should work to:

Enhance strategic dialogue: While the United States and the EU frequently discuss China and Asia at the working level, the transatlantic agenda lacks regular, institutionalized high-level dialogues, summits, and planning for monitoring regional developments, sharing information, and coordinating policy. It is unlikely that another U.S.-EU summit will be held before 2021 with the new EU leadership only just in place and the United States poised to enter an election year, but it is never too early to start laying the groundwork for future cooperation.

The Indo-Pacific must become a regular agenda item in official U.S.-European meetings. Among other things, it would be helpful if the two sides could agree on a common definition of what the Indo-Pacific denotes and what elements a more common strategy should include. Besides official dialogues, track 1.5 dialogues organized by think tanks can also help foster transatlantic strategic conversations on the Indo-Pacific.¹⁵⁰

Keep political messaging in sync: The United States and the EU need not always speak with one voice, but it would be beneficial for them to show a united front when possible. For example, on issues like Chinese assertiveness in the South China Sea, North Korea's nuclear tests, Chinese pressure against Taiwan, the treatment of ethnic Uyghurs in Xinjiang, and freedom of speech for the people of Hong Kong, Washington and European capitals can coordinate on diplomatic statements, sanctions policy, and UN Security Council resolutions. The two sides might wish to revisit and update the joint EEAS–State Department statement on Asia from 2012, which, at the time, provided a constructive, pragmatic vision for transatlantic cooperation. ¹⁵¹ If the Brexit negotiations end up leading to the UK leaving the EU, it will be crucial to establish new U.S.-UK-EU formats to discuss these issues as well.

Clearly convey U.S. strategy to European partners: The U.S. government should actively involve its European allies as it further develops and implements its Indo-Pacific strategy. Europeans still remember how the Obama administration presented its rebalance to Asia to U.S. partners, including those across the Atlantic, as a fait accompli. Rather than trying to rally uniform European support, Washington should work with its European partners to frame what a common vision for the region would look like and how it should be pursued.

But first the Trump administration must clarify whether it expects Europe to be a partner or merely a follower. Europeans are wary of being seen as seeking to contain China's rise. If the United States can provide suitable assurances, that would help get Europeans on board for a more joint Indo-Pacific agenda, though differences will remain.

Acknowledge the EU's unique complementary role: The EU's political neutrality in Asia and strong commitment to multilateralism are invaluable assets for promoting a Free and Open Indo-Pacific. For example, even though the United States has not signed on to UNCLOS, having European members of the UN Security Council do more to defend and apply it in the South China Sea is a positive step. 152 The EU also could initiate conversations with like-minded Asian states about introducing an agreement like the Helsinki Accords to reduce tensions between Asian neighbors and establish nonbinding principles for guiding relations between them.

Europeans can also engage Asian partners on issues on which the United States is absent or has less credibility, such as climate change and human rights, or carry out capacity building and security assistance measures that complement U.S. efforts. Finally, European countries such as France and the UK could take the lead on maritime operations in geographical areas where the United States is likely less engaged such as the Western Indian Ocean.

Avoid taking swipes at the EU: Washington and Brussels must be on the same page policywise for cooperation to really take hold. On the trade front, the United States and the EU must resolve their own disagreements before they can effectively address shared concerns about unfair Chinese behavior. The key for Washington is to maintain strong and healthy relationships with allies and partners in Europe and Asia, jointly work to set high global standards for economic conduct, and seek to reform multilateral bodies like the WTO, rather than trying to unilaterally impose tariffs on allies and rivals alike. On a related note, most Europeans dismiss the notion of economic decoupling from China as highly unpopular and unrealistic, preferring instead to keep deep economic ties with China while doing more to safeguard vital European interests.

Similarly, the Trump administration's broader criticism of Europe does more harm than good. Singling out Europe as an economic competitor or a foe does not foster goodwill or a spirit of cooperation, nor does supporting a hard Brexit, siding with populist nationalist governments across the continent, or taking other steps to undermine the European project. In particular, the U.S. government should abstain from lending political support to Europe's populist governments, especially since several countries with such leaders (such as Hungary) tend to be the most Chinafriendly. Moreover, Washington should encourage deeper EU cooperation on areas such as foreign investment screening, export controls, and shared 5G risk assessments.

Encourage greater European multilateral participation: Washington should urge both the EU and individual European countries to be more strongly involved in regional forums such as the ASEAN Defense Ministers' Meeting-Plus (and its associated expert working groups) and the East Asia Summit. Additionally, it would be worthwhile to bring France and the UK into the still evolving Quad cooperative framework between Australia, India, Japan, and the United States as well as other regional frameworks and joint exercises promoting military interoperability. Trilateral meetings in which the United States and key regional partners such as Australia and Japan meet with key European partners, like France and the UK, should also be expanded. Trilateral U.S.-UK-Japan maritime cooperation could also serve as a model for other trilateral formats—such as a U.S.-France-India arrangement.¹⁵³

Similarly, Washington should encourage its European allies to deepen bilateral ties with U.S. allies and partners like India and Japan in the Indo-Pacific so as to preserve freedom of navigation and invest in capacity building to combat piracy, illegal fishing, and organized crime. Finally, the several European states that are members of the AIIB can help shape the organization from within to ensure that it complies with international norms and principles.

Boost direct transatlantic security cooperation: Despite their differences, the United States and Europe can strengthen direct transatlantic cooperation on certain security issues in the Indo-Pacific. These areas include maritime security and freedom of navigation, sanctions enforcement, capacity building and training, regional security integration, nonproliferation, countering political influence and disinformation campaigns, energy policy, and cybersecurity.

At the very least, Europe and the United States should share information about their respective military-to-military engagement with the People's Liberation Army of China; coordinate the provision of defense equipment and services to regional partners; cooperate on enforcing sanctions and countering illegal fishing and trafficking; and deconflict and increase mutual understanding of each other's wider activities in the region.

In addition, Washington and its European partners could look into conducting more joint patrols and exercises, as well as partnering more on capacity building with respect to the South China Sea. Such cooperation has happened before. The French and British militaries joined the U.S. Navy for drills near the coast of Guam in 2017, and in May 2019, Australian, French, Japanese, and U.S. forces held a combined naval exercise in the Bay of Bengal. European participation in joint operations and the involvement of European military assets (such as bases and logistical support) helps convey that there is a broad coalition of countries that are willing to cooperate in the region.

Discuss connectivity in the Indo-Pacific more: Because Europe and the United States are both keen to invest more in regional infrastructure and connectivity, the opportunity is ripe for enhancing transatlantic dialogue and cooperation. In particular, the EU's connectivity strategy and U.S. efforts, such as the BUILD Act and the Blue Dot Network, could offer potential synergies and room for collaboration.

One goal should be to have a dedicated U.S.-EU connectivity partnership in place by the next G7 meeting in the United States in June 2020. The two sides should also discuss how to best leverage development financing and private sector investment for strategic priorities in the Indo-Pacific; whether a regional division of labor between the two sides makes sense; and how to align digital, infrastructure, and energy standards (though the United States' exit from the Paris climate change accord complicates these discussions).

Enhance dialogue on export controls and FDI screening: Both Europe and the United States are ratcheting up legislation and regulations pertaining to investment screening and export controls involving China, a potential impetus for deeper transatlantic coordination. The United States' experience with CFIUS could provide valuable lessons for European countries seeking to develop or update national legislation. The European Commission and the U.S. Treasury and Commerce Departments should seek to share information about particular transactions, coordinate on exploring which sensitive technologies to protect (including so-called "white lists" and "black lists"), and engage jointly with third parties such as Japan. Finally, the United States' experience with restricting exports based on broader foreign policy concerns could be informative for European practitioners too—like the October 2019 U.S. decision to restrict exports to twenty-eight Chinese entities accused of helping repress human rights in Xinjiang. 154

About the Authors

Erik Brattberg is director of the Europe Program and a fellow at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace in Washington. He is an expert on European politics and security and transatlantic relations. His current research at Carnegie focuses on U.S. foreign policy toward the EU and NATO, transatlantic cooperation in an age of great power competition, and Europe's relations with China and Asia.

Philippe Le Corre is a nonresident senior fellow in the Europe and Asia Programs at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. He is also a research associate with the Harvard Kennedy School (the Ash Center for Democratic Governance and Innovation and the Mossavar-Rahmani Center for Business and Government) and a former counselor to the French minister of defense. He specializes in China's global rise, China's relations with Europe and Eurasia, competition in the Asia Pacific region, and Chinese foreign direct investment.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Evan Feigenbaum, Ashley J. Tellis, Frédéric Grare, and Thomas Carothers for their helpful comments on previous drafts. The paper is also informed by two off-the-record seminars attended by U.S. and European officials and experts hosted by the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace and Institut Montaigne in Paris in January 2019 and in Washington, DC, in November 2019.

Notes

- The Indo-Pacific construct is increasingly being used to denote the strategic area encompassing the Indian and Pacific Oceans. However, no two countries who have adopted the concept define it geographically the same way. An early adopter of the term was Japanese Prime Minister Shinzo Abe, who, in a 2007 speech, notably referred to the "confluence of the two seas." Politicians and strategic analysts in countries such as Australia, India, and the United States have begun using the term more frequently. See Shinzo Abe, "Confluence of the Two Seas," speech before the Indian Parliament in New Delhi, August 22, 2007, https://www.mofa.go.jp/region/asia-paci/pmv0708/speech-2.html.
- 2 European Commission, "Countries and Regions: Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN)," June 17, 2019, https://ec.europa.eu/trade/policy/countries-and-regions/regions/asean/.
- 3 Many of these viewpoints were articulated in a speech delivered by Vice President Mike Pence in October 2018. See Mike Pence, "Vice President Mike Pence's Remarks on the Administration's Policy Towards China," speech at The Hudson Institute, Washington, DC, October 4, 2018, https://www.hudson.org/events/1610-vice-president-mike-pence-s-remarks-on-the-administration-s-policy-towards-china102018.
- The White House, "National Security Strategy of the United States of America," December 2017, https://www.whitehouse. gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/NSS-Final-12-18-2017-0905.pdf; and U.S. Department of Defense, "Summary of the 2018 National Defense Strategy of the United States of America," January 19, 2018, https://dod.defense.gov/Portals/1/Documents/pubs/2018-National-Defense-Strategy-Summary.pdf.
- Nonetheless, it is important to note that the original point former deputy secretary of state Robert Zoellick made in the speech in which he coined this term was not that the international order was static and that China needed to be brought into the U.S.-led order, but that the order itself would have to evolve to survive. See Robert Zoellick, "Whither China? From Membership to Responsibility," remarks to the National Committee on U.S.-China Relations in New York City, September 21, 2005, https://www.ncuscr.org/sites/default/files/migration/Zoellick_remarks_notes06_winter_spring.pdf.
- 6 Kurt M. Cambell and Ely Ratner, "The China Reckoning: How Beijing Defied American Expectations," *Foreign Affairs*, March/April 2018, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/china/2018-02-13/china-reckoning.
- See U.S. Department of Defense, "Indo-Pacific Strategy Report: Preparedness, Partnerships, and Promoting a Networked Region," June 1, 2019, https://media.defense.gov/2019/Jul/01/2002152311/-1/-1/1/DEPARTMENT-OF-DEFENSE-IN-DO-PACIFIC-STRATEGY-REPORT-2019.PDF; U.S. Department of State, "A Free and Open Indo-Pacific: Advancing a Shared Vision," November 3, 2019, https://www.state.gov/release-of-the-united-states-report-on-the-implementation-of-the-indo-pacific-strategy/; and the White House, "President Trump's Administration Is Advancing a Free and Open Indo-Pacific Through Investments and Partnerships in Economics, Security, and Governance," November 18, 2018, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/president-trumps-administration-advancing-free-open-indo-pacific-investments-partner-ships-economics-security-governance/.
- Patrick M. Shanahan, "Acting Secretary Shanahan's Remarks at the IISS Shangri-La Dialogue," Department of Defense speech in Singapore, June 1, 2019, https://www.defense.gov/Newsroom/Transcripts/Transcript/Article/1871584/acting-secretary-shanahans-remarks-at-the-iiss-shangri-la-dialogue-2019/; Department of Defense, "Indo-Pacific Strategy Report"; and Jeff Mason and David Lawde, "Trump's China Trade Rhetoric Turns Harsh at U.N., Says Won't Take 'Bad Deal," Reuters, September 24, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-un-assembly-trump-china/trumps-china-trade-rhetoric-turns-harsh-at-u-n-says-wont-take-bad-deal-idUSKBN1W91ZC.
- 9 Shanahan, "Acting Secretary Shanahan's Remarks at the IISS Shangri-La Dialogue."
- See, for example, Nicole Gaouette, "Trump Hikes Price Tag for US Forces in Korea Almost 400% as Seoul Questions Alliance," CNN, November 15, 2019, https://www.cnn.com/2019/11/14/politics/trump-south-korea-troops-price-hike/index.html.
- David R. Stillwell, "The U.S., China, and Pluralism in International Affairs," U.S. Department of State, December 2, 2019, https://www.state.gov/the-u-s-china-and-pluralism-in-international-affairs/.
- This section is partially based on a previously published piece; see Erik Brattberg, Philippe Le Corre, and Etienne Soula, "Can France and the UK Pivot to the Pacific?," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, July 5, 2018, https://carnegieendowment.org/2018/07/05/can-france-and-uk-pivot-to-pacific-pub-76732.
- 13 Richard Wike, Bruce Stokes, Jacob Poushter, Laura Silver, Janell Fetterolf, and Kat Devlin, "Trump's International Ratings Remain Low, Especially Among Key Allies," Pew Research Center, October 1, 2018, https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2018/10/01/2-faith-in-the-u-s-president-remains-low/.
- 14 French Ministry of the Armies, "France Unveils Its Defense Policy in the Indo-Pacific," June 12, 2019, https://www.defense.gouv.fr/english/dgris/international-action/regional-issues/france-unveils-its-defence-policy-in-the-indo-pacific.
- European External Action Service (EEAS), "The Partnership on Sustainable Connectivity and Quality Infrastructure Between the European Union and Japan," September 27, 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/68018/partnership-sustainable-connectivity-and-quality-infrastructure-between-european-union-and_en.

- 16 French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, "The Indo-Pacific Region: A Priority for France," August 2019, https://www. diplomatie.gouv.fr/en/country-files/asia-and-oceania/the-indo-pacific-region-a-priority-for-france/#.
- French Ministry of the Armed Forces, "France's Defence Strategy in the Indo-Pacific," May 2019, https://www.defense.gouv. fr/content/download/559602/9683963/file/France's%20Defence%20Strategy%20in%20the%20Indo-Pacific%20-%20Summary%20-%202019.pdf.
- Thu Trang, "Vietnam, France Sign Joint Vision Statement on Defense Cooperation," Vietnamese Central Military Commission and Ministry of National Defense, People's Army Newspaper, September 19, 2018, https://en.gdnd.vn/military/intl-relations-and-cooperation/vietnam-france-sign-joint-vision-statement-on-defense-cooperation-497045.
- "The Indo-Pacific Region: A Priority for France," French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, August 2019, https://www. diplomatie.gouv.fr/en/country-files/asia-and-oceania/the-indo-pacific-region-a-priority-for-france/.
- Indian Ministry of External Affairs, "India-France Joint Statement on Visit of Prime Minister to France," August 22, 2019, https://www.mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/31755/IndiaFrance+Joint+Statement+on+Visit+of+Prime+Minister+to+France+2223+August+2019.
- Indian Ministry of External Affairs, "Indo-French Roadmap on Cybersecurity and Digital Technology," August 22, 2019, https://mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/31757/IndoFrench+Roadmap+on+Cybersecurity+and+Digital+Technology+August+22+2019.
- Indian Ministry of External Affairs, "Joint Strategic Vision of India-France Cooperation in the Indian Ocean Region," March 10, 2018, https://mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/29598/oint+Strategic+Vision+of+IndiaFrance+Cooperation+in+the+Indian+Ocean+Region+New+Delhi+10+March+2018; and Indian Ministry of External Affairs, "India-France Joint Vision for Space Cooperation," March 10, 2018, https://mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/29597/IndiaFrance+-Joint+Vision+for+Space+Cooperation+New+Delhi+10+March+2018.
- "India, France Sign Strategic Pact on Use of Each Other's Military Bases," Times of India, March 10, 2018, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/india-france-sign-strategic-pact-on-use-of-each-others-military-bases/articleshow/63248889.cms; and Indian Ministry of External Affairs, "Joint Strategic Vision of India-France Cooperation in the Indian Ocean Region."
- "India Gets Its 1st of 36 Rafale Fighter Jets From France," Economic Times, October 9, 2019, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/rajnath-singh-receives-1st-of-the-36-rafale-fighter-jets/articleshow/71490873.cms?from=mdr.
- "India, France Express Commitment to Freedom of Navigation in Indo-Pacific," India Today, August 23, 2019, https://www. indiatoday.in/india/story/india-france-express-commitment-to-freedom-of-navigation-in-indo-pacific-1590636-2019-08-23.
- Dinakar Peri, "Discussing Joint Patrols With India in Indian Ocean: French Navy Chief," Hindu, November 19, 2019, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/discussing-joint-patrols-with-india-in-indian-ocean-french-navy-chief/article30013561.ece.
- Tallulah Lutkin and Togo Shiraishi, "France and Japan to Scale Up Military Exercises to Deter China," Nikkei Asian Review, January 25, 2018, https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/International-relations/France-and-Japan-to-scale-up-military-exercises-todeter-China; and "Japan and France Agree to Hold New Maritime Dialogue by Year-end," Japan Times, January 12, 2019, https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2019/01/12/national/politics-diplomacy/japan-france-agree-hold-new-maritime-dialogueyear-end/#.Xan3hvZFyUl.
- New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, "The Franz Arrangement," October 20, 2014, https://www.mfat.govt.nz/ assets/Aid-Prog-docs/NZDRP-docs/Franz-Arrangement-Brochure.pdf.
- "Joint Statement of Enhanced Strategic Partnership Between Australia and France," French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, March 3, 2017, https://www.diplomatie.gouv.fr/en/country-files/australia/news/article/joint-statement-of-enhanced-strategic-partnership-between-australia-and-france.
- Sydney Bureau, Jean-Baptiste Vey, and Michel Rose, "Macron Wants Strategic Paris-Delhi-Canberra Axis Amid Pacific Tension," Reuters, May 2, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-australia-france/macron-wants-strategic-paris-delhi-canberra-axis-amid-pacific-tension-idUSKBN1I330F.
- Tom Dunlop, "French Navy Seeks Australian Warships to Escort Charles de Gaulle," UK Defence Journal, October 11, 2019, https://ukdefencejournal.org.uk/french-navy-seeks-australian-warships-to-escort-charles-de-gaulle/.
- "France Wins \$40 Billion Australian Submarine Contract Over Japan, Germany," France 24, April 26, 2016, https://www. france24.com/en/20160426-france-win-40-billion-submarine-contract.
- "National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015: A Secure and Prosperous United Kingdom," Office of the UK Prime Minister, November 2015, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/555607/2015_Strategic_Defence_and_Security_Review.pdf.
- This is also illustrated, for instance, by comments from the former chancellor of the Exchequer, Philip Hammond, in favor of deepening trade relations with China and the ongoing UK-China Economic and Financial Dialogue. See Lucy Hornby and George Parker, "Hammond Courts China Economic Ties on Beijing Trip," Financial Times, April 26, 2019, https://www. ft.com/content/a791f700-6812-11e9-9adc-98bf1d35a056; "Factsheet: 10th UK China Economic and Financial Dialogue," Chancellor of the Exchequer, June 17, 2019, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/809590/EFD_Factsheet_FINAL__003_.pdf_1.pdf; and Zhenhua Lu, "'Pro-China' Boris Johnson 'Enthu-

- siastic' About Belt and Road Plan," *South China Morning Post*, July 24, 2019, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3019884/pro-china-boris-johnson-enthusiastic-about-belt-and-road-plan.
- 35 "United Kingdom Country Brief," Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, https://dfat.gov.au/geo/united-king-dom/Pages/united-kingdom-country-brief.aspx.
- 36 David Scott, "Global Britain: Reaching for the Indo-Pacific, in Infrastructure, Ideas, and Strategy in the Indo-Pacific," ed. John Hemmings, March 2019, 50, https://henryjacksonsociety.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/HJS-Infrastructure-Ideas-and-Strategy-in-Indo-Pacific-web.pdf.
- 37 Rob Taylor, "Australia's \$26 Billion Warship Deal Goes to Britain's BAE," *Wall Street Journal*, June 28, 2018, https://www.wsj.com/articles/australias-26-billion-warship-deal-goes-to-britains-bae-1530190803.
- 38 Office of the UK Prime Minister, "National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015," 57.
- 39 "Japan-UK Joint Declaration on Security Cooperation," UK Government, August 31, 2017, https://assets.publishing.service. gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/641155/Japan-UK_Joint_Declaration_on_Security_Cooperation.pdf.
- 40 Saki Haya, "Japan and UK Expand Joint Military Exercises," *Nikkei Asian Review*, December 15, 2017, https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/Japan-and-UK-to-expand-joint-military-exercises.
- 41 "Japan and Britain Hold Joint Military Exercise in Central Japan," *Japan Times*, October 2, 2018, https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2018/10/02/national/japan-britain-hold-joint-military-exercise-central-japan/#.XadfS_ZFyUk.
- 42 Dominic Asquith, "India/UK: Toward a Stronger Maritime Partnership in the Indian Ocean Region: Welcome by Dominic Asquith, British High Commissioner to India," British High Commission to India, February 27, 2019, https://carnegieen-dowment.org/files/CARNIGIE_RUSI%20HC%20speech%2027%20Feb%20Maritime%20event.pdf; and "India, UK Vow to Boost Cooperation in Maritime Security, Counter-terrorism," *Economic Times*, May 10, 2019, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/india-uk-vow-to-boost-cooperation-in-maritime-security-counter-terrorism/articleshow/69272245.cms.
- 43 "Royal Navy to Send Officer at Indian Navy's Information Fusion Centre: UK Envoy," Hindu, November 16, 2019, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/royal-navy-to-send-officer-at-indian-navys-information-fusion-centre-uk-envoy/article29987916.ece.
- 44 Guy Faulconbridge, "UK Pitches 'Global Britain' by Flexing Military Muscle: Defense Minister," Reuters, February 11, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-britain-eu-defence-power/uk-pitches-global-britain-by-flexing-military-muscle-defense-minister-idUSKCN1Q010Y.
- 45 Brad Lendon, "A British Military Base on the South China Sea Is Not a Far-fetched Idea," CNN, January 4, 2019, https://edition.cnn.com/2019/01/03/asia/britain-military-bases-asia-intl/index.html.
- 46 "A European Security Profile in Asia: The EU and Its Member States," Asia-Pacific Research and Advice Network (APRAN) Study No. 5, February 26, 2018.
- 47 Federica Mogherini, "Speech at Shangri-La Dialogue: Korean Security—The Next Steps," EEAS, June 1, 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/63535/speech-high-representativevice-president-federica-mogherini-shangri-la-dialogue-korean_en.
- 48 Reiji Yoshida, "Abe and Merkel Seek to Take Japan-Germany Ties to 'Higher Level' Amid Trade Turmoil and Brexit," *Japan Times*, February 4, 2019, https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2019/02/04/national/politics-diplomacy/abe-merkel-seek-take-japan-german-ties-higher-level-amid-trade-turmoil-brexit/#.XadplfZFyUl.
- 49 Heiko Maas, "Speech by Minister for Foreign Affairs, Heiko Maas at the National Graduate Institute for Policy Studies in Tokyo, Japan," German Federal Foreign Office, July 25, 2018, https://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/en/newsroom/news/maas-ja-pan/2121846.
- 50 Dhruva Jaishankar, "India and Germany: Realizing Strategic Convergence," Brookings Institution, January 31, 2017, https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/india-and-germany-realising-strategic-convergence/.
- 51 Indian Ministry of External Affairs, "Joint Statement During the Visit of Chancellor of Germany to India," November 1, 2019, https://mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/31991/Joint+Statement+during+the+visit+of+Chancellor+of+Germany+to+India; and Andreas Rinke and Aditi Shah, "Germany, India Sign Wide-Ranging Agreements to Deepen Bilateral Ties," Reuters, November 1, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-india-germany/germany-india-sign-wide-ranging-agreements-to-deepen-bilateral-ties-idUSKBN1XB3K4.
- 52 In addition to the EU, the so-called EU6 group, the current European members of the UN Security Council, have also issued a joint statement on the situation in North Korea. These countries include Belgium, Estonia, France, Germany, Poland, and the UK. See United Nations, "UN/EU6 DPRK," UNifeed, October 8, 2019, https://www.unmultimedia.org/tv/unifeed/asset/2466/2466661/.
- 53 Guy Banim, "Nepal: Development, Diplomacy, Discretion and Dialogue," in *Prevention Better Than Cure: The EU's Quiet Diplomacy in Asia*, eds. Guy Banim and Eva Pejsova, European Union Institute for Security Studies, June 7, 2017, 28–33, https://www.iss.europa.eu/sites/default/files/EUISSFiles/Report%2033_0.pdf.

- 54 Richard Youngs, "Keeping EU-Asia Reengagement on Track," Carnegie Europe, January 2015, 1, https://carnegieendowment. org/files/eu_asia_reengagement.pdf.
- EEAS, "Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe—A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy," June 2016, http://eeas.europa.eu/archives/docs/top_stories/pdf/eugs_review_web.pdf.
- Japanese Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Strategic Partnership Agreement Between the European Union and Its Member States, of the One Part, and Japan, of the Other Part," July 17, 2018, https://www.mofa.go.jp/files/000381942.pdf.
- EEAS, "1st EU-Australia Joint Committee Charts the Way Forward for Enhanced Cooperation," November 13, 2018, https://eeas.europa.eu/topics/eu-global-strategy/53695/1st-eu-australia-joint-committee-charts-way-forward-enhanced-cooperation_en; and EEAS, "Second EU-Australia Joint Committee Highlights Concrete Steps Forward in the Bilateral Partnership," June 27, 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/64676/second-eu-australia-joint-committee-highlights-concrete-steps-forward-bilateral-partnership_en.
- 58 European Council, "EU-India Summit, New Delhi," October 6, 2017, https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/international-summit/2017/10/06/; and European Union, "An EU Strategy on India," November 20, 2018, https://eeas.europa. eu/sites/eeas/files/eu-india_factsheet_november_2018.pdf.
- European Council, "EU-ASEAN Ministerial Meeting," January 21, 2019, https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/ international-ministerial-meetings/2019/01/21/asean/.
- EEAS, "ASEAN-EU Statement on Cybersecurity Cooperation," August 1, 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/ headquarters-homepage_en/66196/ASEAN-EU%20Statement%20on%20Cybersecurity%20Cooperation?mkt_tok=ey-JpIjoiWmpKaU5tWmlaR0kzTm1OaCIsInQiOiJTb2EwMWRzeVBDT1NzUms4aHlEcFYxaUNsbHYrT3ZNMU5XeD-JxNXVtTHJ3VDJKZ1ZWMUF1UVwvb1wvSE5EVUQydTQrQVZWXC9HbklWM0pcLzRoYWVpeTAwSFJRMGN-NM1R6ekRXaTBQTWQxS1ZmZHdpd24yK3J4QVE3XC9ielcrb0ZoTVFEIn0%3D.
- 61 EEAS, "Enhancing Security Cooperation in and With Asia," July 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/eeas/files/factsheet_eu_ asia_security_july_2019.pdf.
- 62 European Council, "Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM), 18–19 October 2018," October 19, 2018, https://www.consilium.europa. eu/en/meetings/international-summit/2018/10/18-19/.
- EEAS, "Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe—A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy."
- This section is partially based on a previously published piece; see Brattberg, Le Corre, and Soula, "Can France and the UK Pivot to the Pacific?"
- Laurence Norman, "EU Issues South China Sea Statement Ending Discord Within Bloc," Wall Street Journal, July 17, 2016, https://www.wsj.com/articles/eu-issues-south-china-sea-statement-after-failing-to-agree-common-stance-1468583961.
- G7 Information Center, "Joint Communiqué: G7 Foreign Ministers Meeting," April 11, 2017, www.g7.utoronto.ca/foreign/170411-communique.html.
- German Federal Foreign Office, "Joint Statement by France, Germany and the United Kingdom on the Situation in the South China Sea," August 29, 2019, https://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/en/newsroom/news/-/2242280.
- French Ministry for the Armed Forces, "France and Security in the Indo-Pacific," https://jp.ambafrance.org/IMG/pdf/france_ and security in the indo-pacific - 2018.pdf?24718/0b69be18e6cab6622c9880c5304bc0ae4f7b904a.
- Jean-Yves Le Drian, "Speech at the Shangri La Dialogue," French Ministry for the Armed Forces, June 5, 2016, https:// www.defense.gouv.fr/content/download/476643/7635877/file/20160605_MINDEF_Discours%20de%20JY%20Le%20 Drian%20à%20l%5C'occasion%20du%20Shangri-La%20Dialogue%20-%20version%20anglaise.pdf.
- Florence Parly, "Shangri-La Dialogue," French Ministry of the Armed Forces, June 4, 2018, https://www.defense.gouv.fr/ english/minister/prises-de-parole-de-la-ministre/florence-parly-shangri-la-dialogue; Florence Parly, "Discours de Florence Parly, ministre des Armées_allocution au Shangri-La Dialogue" [Speech by Florence Parly, Defense Minister at the Shangri-La Dialogue], June 1, 2019, https://www.defense.gouv.fr/salle-de-presse/discours-de-florence-parly/discours-de-florence-parly-ministre-des-armees_allocution-au-shangri-la-dialogue.
- "France Challenges Beijing in South China Sea," Straits Times, June 12, 2018, https://www.straitstimes.com/world/europe/ france-challenges-beijing-in-south-china-sea.
- Idrees Ali and Phil Stewart, "Exclusive: In Rare Move, French Warship Passes Through Taiwan Strait," Reuters, April 24, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-taiwan-france-warship-exclusive/exclusive-in-rare-move-french-warship-passesthrough-taiwan-strait-idUSKCN1S027E.
- French Embassy in Malaysia, "France Cultivates the European Spirit of Commitment to Defence and Security in Asia-Pacific," July 25, 2017, https://my.ambafrance.org/Military-cooperation-campaign-Jeanne-d-Arc-2017.
- 74 "France, US Conclude Bois Belleau 100 Amphibious Cooperation," Naval Today, February 28, 2018, https://navaltoday. com/2018/02/28/france-us-conclude-bois-belleau-100-amphibious-cooperation/.
- Parly, "Speech at the Shangri-La Dialogue (2018)."

- 76 Florence Parly, "18th Asia Security Summit at the IISS Shangri-La Dialogue," International Institute for Strategic Studies (IISS), June 1, 2019, https://www.iiss.org/-/media/files/shangri-la-dialogue/2019/speeches/plenary-3---florence-parly-minister-of-the-armed-forces-france.ashx.
- 77 Ed Adamczyk, "French Patrol Boats to Guard Economic Zones, Build 'European Maritime Capacity," United Press International, December 9, 2019, https://www.upi.com/Defense-News/2019/12/09/French-patrol-boats-to-guard-econom-ic-zones-build-European-maritime-capacity/2781575915077/.
- 78 "UK Opens Persian Gulf Military Base in Bahrain," Associated Press, April 5, 2018, https://apnews.com/403eea90b7054e-daa978c0e51fd182c4
- 79 James Griffiths, "UN Court Ruling Puts Future of Strategic US Military Base Diego Garcia Into Question," CNN, February 26, 2019, https://www.cnn.com/2019/02/25/asia/uk-chagos-mauritius-intl/index.html.
- 80 "Sanctions: North Korean Tanker Transmitting as Fishing Vessel," Maritime Executive, April 8, 2019, https://www.maritime-executive.com/article/sanctions-north-korean-tanker-transmitting-as-fishing-vessel.
- 81 Wesley Rahn, "South China Sea: France and Britain Join the US to Oppose China," *Deutsche Welle*, June 27, 2018, https://www.dw.com/en/south-china-sea-france-and-britain-join-the-us-to-oppose-china/a-44422935.
- 82 Tim Kelly, "Exclusive: British Navy Warship Sails Near South China Sea Islands, Angering Beijing," Reuters, September 5, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-britain-china-southchinasea-exclusive/exclusive-british-navy-warship-sails-near-south-china-sea-islands-angering-beijing-idUSKCN1LM017.
- 83 "Royal Navy Frigate Joins US Navy Oiler for South China Sea Drills," Naval Today, February 20, 2019, https://navaltoday.com/2019/02/20/royal-navy-frigate-joins-us-navy-oiler-for-south-china-sea-drills/.
- 84 "HMS Montrose Heads to Bahrain After Operations in Japan," Naval Today, March 20, 2019, https://navaltoday.com/2019/03/20/hms-montrose-heads-to-bahrain-after-operations-in-japan/.
- 85 Teddy Ng, "British Navy Vessel Passes Through Taiwan Strait," *South China Morning Post*, December 7, 2019, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3041076/british-navy-vessel-passes-through-taiwan-strait.
- 86 Gavin Williamson, "Speech on Transforming UK Defense to Meet the Global Threats of Tomorrow," Royal United Services Institute, February 11, 2019, https://rusi.org/event/gavin-williamson-transforming-uk-defence-meet-global-threats-tomorrow.
- 87 UK Ministry of Defense, "Military Cooperation: United Kingdom and France," January 18, 2018, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742817/UKFR_MilitaryCooperationA5.pdf.
- 88 Jonas Parello-Plesner, "The French Navy Stands Up to China," Hudson Institute, June 8, 2018, https://www.hudson.org/research/14384-the-french-navy-stands-up-to-china.
- 89 Stuart Lau, "Vigilant of the Past, Germany Wades Warily Into the South China Sea," South China Morning Post, June 12, 2019, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3014025/vigilant-past-germany-wades-warily-south-china-sea; John Vincour, "Germany's Military Maneuvers," Politico, June 5, 2019, https://www.politico.eu/article/germanys-military-maneuvers/; and Björn Muller, "Marine plant Entsendung einer Fregatte in den Indo-Pazifik" [Navy plans to send a frigate to the Indo-Pacific], Pivot Area, November 26, 2019, https://www.pivotarea.eu/2019/11/26/fregatte-in-den-indo-pazifik/.
- "Dutch Warship to Join HMS Queen Elizabeth on First Operational Deployment," Naval Today, October 25, 2018, https://navaltoday.com/2018/10/25/dutch-warship-to-join-hms-queen-elizabeth-on-first-operational-deployment/; and John Varga, "South China Sea Shock: How UK Will Team Up With US and Dutch in Bold Mission in 2021," Express, October 20, 2019, https://www.express.co.uk/news/world/1197401/south-china-sea-news-hms-queen-elizabeth-us-navy-vietnam-nine-dash-line-world-war-3.
- 91 Olivier-Rémy Bel, "Can Macron's European Intervention Initiative Make The Europeans Battle-Ready?," War on the Rocks, October 2, 2019, https://warontherocks.com/2019/10/can-macrons-european-intervention-initiative-make-the-europeans-battle-ready/.
- 92 Mogherini, "Speech at Shangri-La Dialogue: Korean Security—The Next Steps"; and European Union Naval Force Operation Atalanta, "The European Union Welcomes Contribution of Republic of Korea Warship Choi Young to EU Naval Force's Counter-Piracy Operation in the Gulf of Aden," February 16, 2017, https://eunavfor.eu/the-european-union-welcomes-contribution-of-republic-of-korea-warship-choi-young-to-eu-naval-forces-counter-piracy-operation-in-the-gulf-of-aden/.
- 93 EEAS, "European Union Naval Forces—Port Visit to Mumbai," January 25, 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/in-dia/57118/european-union-naval-forces-port-visit-mumbai_en.
- 94 Sebastian Sprenger, "EU Defense Chiefs Eye Ad-hoc, Naval Security Forces—But Not for the Hormuz Strait," *Defense News*, August 29, 2019, https://www.defensenews.com/global/europe/2019/08/29/eu-defense-chiefs-eye-ad-hoc-maritime-security-forces-but-not-for-the-hormuz-strait/.
- 95 EEAS, "Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe: A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy."
- 96 Council of the European Union, "Enhanced EU Security Cooperation in and With Asia," May 28, 2018, https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/35456/st09265-re01-en18.pdf.
- 97 EEAS, "Enhancing Security Cooperation in and With Asia Factsheet."

- 98 European Commission, "Action Document for 'Security Cooperation in and With Asia," https://ec.europa.eu/fpi/sites/fpi/ files/annexe_3_security_cooperation_in_and_with_asia_part1_v2.pdf.
- EEAS, "Europe and Asia—Together for a More Secure World," May 28, 2018, https://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/china/45248/europe-and-asia---together-more-secure-world_en.
- 100 EEAS, "ASEAN and the EU," May 11, 2016, https://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/indonesia_en/906/ASEAN%20and%20 the%20EU.
- 101 EEAS, "The 4th EU-ASEAN High Level Dialogue on Maritime Security Cooperation," October 6, 2017, https://eeas.europa. eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/33407/4th-eu-asean-high-level-dialogue-maritime-security-cooperation_lv.
- 102 EEAS, "EU-Asia Relations Factsheet," July 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/eeas/files/eu-asean_factsheet_july_2019.pdf.
- 103 Asquith, "India/UK: Toward a Stronger Maritime Partnership in the Indian Ocean Region."
- 104 "A European Security Profile in Asia: The EU and Its Member States," APRAN.
- 105 "About ReCAAP Information Sharing Center," Regional Cooperation Agreement on Combating Piracy and Armed Robbery against Ships in Asia (ReCAAP), http://www.recaap.org/about_ReCAAP-ISC.
- 106 Youngs, "Keeping EU-Asia Reengagement on Track."
- 107 Eds. Banim and Pejsova, "Prevention Better Than Cure."
- 108 Youngs, "Keeping EU-Asia Reengagement on Track."
- 109 European Commission, William Becker, et al., "Exploring ASEM Sustainable Connectivity—What Brings Asia and Europe Together?," European Commission Joint Research Center, 2019, https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/ JRC112998/asem-report_online.pdf.
- 110 European Commission, "Countries and Regions: Japan," https://ec.europa.eu/trade/policy/countries-and-regions/countries/
- 111 Suhasini Haidar, "India, EU to Push for Free Trade Pact Again," Hindu, November 10, 2019, https://www.thehindu.com/ business/Economy/india-eu-to-push-for-free-trade-pact-again/article29932663.ece; and "Angela Merkel Renews Push for India-EU Free Trade Pact," Reuters, November 2, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-india-germany/germanys-merkelrenews-push-for-fta-with-india-pledges-green-funds-idUSKBN1XC03X.
- 112 Jakob Hanke, "EU's Big 3 Seeks Greater Role for Brussels to Stop Chinese Takeovers," Politico, August 19, 2017, https:// www.politico.eu/article/eus-big-3-seek-greater-role-for-brussels-to-stop-chinese-takeovers/.
- 113 European Commission, "EU Foreign Investment Screening Regulation Enters Into Force," April 10, 2019, https://europa.eu/ rapid/press-release_IP-19-2088_en.htm.
- 114 European Commission, "EU-China—A Strategic Outlook," March 12, 2019, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/communication-eu-china-a-strategic-outlook.pdf.
- 115 Delegation of the European Union to China, "Joint Statement of the 21st EU-China Summit," April 10, 2019, https://eeas. europa.eu/delegations/china_en/60836/Joint%20statement%20of%20the%2021st%20EU-China%20summit.
- 116 European Commission, "Landmark Agreement Will Protect 100 European Geographical Indications in China," November 5, 2019, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_19_6200.
- 117 Maria Sheahan and Caroline Copley, "Germany Stalls Chinese Takeover of Aixtron, Citing Security Worries," Reuters, October 24, 2016, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-aixtron-m-a-fujian-germany/germany-stalls-chinese-takeover-of-aixtron-citing-security-worries-idUSKCN12O13G.
- 118 This section is partially based on a previously published piece; see Erik Brattberg and Etienne Soula, "Europe's Emerging Approach to China's Belt and Road Initiative," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, October 19, 2018, http://carnegieendowment.org/2018/10/19/europe-s-emerging-approach-to-china-s-belt-and-road-initiative-pub-77536.
- 119 Eds. Frans-Paul van der Putten, John Seaman, Mikko Huotari, Alice Ekman, and Miguel Otero-Iglesias, "Europe and China's New Silk Roads," European Think-Tank Network on China, December 2016, https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/ pdfs/Europe_and_Chinas_New_Silk_Roads_0.pdf.
- 120 European Commission, "European Commission Vice-President Jyrki Katainen Speech at Belt and Road Forum Leaders' Round Table," May 16, 2017, https://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/china/26154/european-commission-vice-president-jyrkikatainen-speech-belt-and-road-forum-leaders-round_en.
- 121 With Greece formally joining the group in 2019, the platform is now commonly referred to as the 17+1 instead.
- 122 Chinese Ministry of Science and Technology "China and Hungary Sign MOU on Joint R&D," July 2017, http://www.most. gov.cn/eng/pressroom/201707/t20170714_134071.htm; "China, Greece Ink MOU to Promote Belt and Road Initiative," China Daily, August 28, 2018, http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201808/28/WS5b853bdba310add14f3883f1.html; Liu Zhen, "Portugal Signs Agreement With China on Belt and Road Initiative," South China Morning Post, December 5, 2018, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/2176560/portugal-wavers-xi-jinping-presses-europe-belt-and-road; and Liu Zhen, "Italy Aims to Be China's First G7 Partner on Belt and Road," South China Morning Post, September 22, 2018, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/2165292/italy-aims-be-chinas-first-g7-partner-belt-road.
- 123 European Commission, "Connecting Europe and Asia—Building Blocks for an EU Strategy," September 19, 2018, https://

- eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/50724/connecting-europe-and-asia-building-blocks-eu-strategy_en.
- 124 European Commission, "Explaining the European Union's Approach to Connecting Europe and Asia," September 19, 2018, https://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-18-5804_en.htm.
- 125 EEAS, "The Partnership on Sustainable Connectivity and Quality Infrastructure Between the European Union and Japan," September 27, 2019, https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/68018/partnership-sustainable-connectivity-and-quality-infrastructure-between-european-union-and_en.
- 126 Shinzo Abe, "Speech on Japan and the EU: The Strong and Steady Pillars Supporting Many Bridges," Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet, September 27, 2019, https://japan.kantei.go.jp/98_abe/statement/201909/_00003.html.
- 127 U.S. Department of State, "Acting Assistant Secretary Wells and Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary Murphy Travel to Brussels," June 14, 2019, https://www.state.gov/acting-assistant-secretary-wells-and-principal-deputy-assistant-secretary-murphy-travel-to-brussels/.
- 128 David M. Herszenhorn, "Trump Administration Wants to 'Reset' Relations With EU," *Politico*, September 2, 2019, https://www.politico.eu/article/trump-administration-wants-to-reset-relations-with-eu/.
- 129 U.S. freedom of navigation operations generally take place within twelve nautical miles of reclaimed Chinese islands in the South China Sea. See National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Office of Coast Survey, "U.S. Maritime Limits and Boundaries," https://nauticalcharts.noaa.gov/data/us-maritime-limits-and-boundaries.html.
- 130 Cailin Oprysko, "Mike Pompeo Unveils Panel to Examine 'Unalienable Right," *Politico*, July 8, 2019, https://www.politico.com/story/2019/07/08/pompeo-panel-unalienable-rights-1400023.
- 131 For ideas on how to advance transatlantic cooperation on Taiwan, see Jamie Fly, "The Importance of Transatlantic Cooperation on Taiwan," Taiwan Global Institute, *Global Taiwan Brief* 4, no. 10, May 22, 2019, http://globaltaiwan.org/2019/05/vol-4,-issue-10/?utm_source=Global%20Taiwan%20Updates&utm_campaign=b0ab02a7cc-EMAIL_CAM-PAIGN_2019_05_21_07_17&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_d5a87749a5-b0ab02a7cc-439487061&mc_ci-d=b0ab02a7cc&mc_eid=90b5680970#JamieFly05222019.
- 132 Government of Canada, "Joint Statement by Canada and European Union on Situation in Hong Kong," August 17, 2019, https://www.canada.ca/en/global-affairs/news/2019/08/joint-statement-by-canada-and-european-union-on-situation-in-hong-kong,html.
- 133 "Europe Could Soon Be Within Range of North Korean Missiles: France," Reuters, September 5, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-northkorea-missiles-france/europe-could-soon-be-within-range-of-north-korean-missiles-france-idUSKCN-1BG1FZ.
- 134 Individual EU countries with active embassies in Pyongyang, such as Germany, Poland, and Sweden, also play diplomatic roles vis-à-vis North Korea.
- 135 Ana Swanson, "Trump Lifts Metal Tariffs and Delays Auto Levies, Limiting Global Trade Fight," *New York Times*, May 17, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/05/17/us/politics/china-auto-tariffs-donald-trump.html; and Office of the United States Trade Representative, "United States and the European Union Sign Breakthrough Agreement on U.S. Beef Access to EU," August 2, 2019, https://ustr.gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/press-releases/2019/august/united-states-and-european-union.
- 136 Jonathan Swan, "Scoop: Trump Tells Macron the EU Is "Worse" Than China," *Axios*, June 10, 2018, https://www.axios.com/donald-trump-emmanuel-macron-eu-worse-than-china-trade-tariffs-57f53e00-8b5c-4931-9d05-97ee0b510fd5.html.
- 137 Maria Tadeo and Stephanie Bodoni, "Europe Says It's Ready for a Trade War If Pressured by the U.S.," *Bloomberg*, October 10, 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-10-10/europe-says-it-s-ready-for-a-trade-war-if-pressured-by-the-u-s?utm_source=google&utm_medium=bd&cmpId=google.
- 138 Jonathan Stearns, "Europe's Investment-Screening Plan Clears Final Political Hurdle," *Bloomberg*, February 14, 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-14/europe-s-investment-screening-plan-clears-final-political-hurdle.
- 139 Julian E. Barnes and Adam Satariano, "U.S. Campaign to Ban Huawei Overseas Stumbles as Allies Resist," *New York Times*, March 17, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/17/us/politics/huawei-ban.html.
- 140 "The Launch of Multi-Stakeholder Blue Dot Network," Overseas Private Investment Corporation, press release, November 4, 2019, https://www.opic.gov/press-releases/2019/launch-multi-stakeholder-blue-dot-network.
- 141 Noah Barkin, "The U.S. Is Losing Europe in Its Battle With China," *Atlantic*, June 4, 2019, https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2019/06/united-states-needs-europe-against-china/590887/.
- 142 "AIIB Governance: Senior Management," Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank, https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/governance/senior-management/index.html.
- 143 EEAS, "Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe—A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign and Security Policy."
- 144 European Commission, "EU-China—A Strategic Outlook."
- 145 European Council, "Central Asia: Council Adopts a New EU Strategy for the Region," June 17, 2019, https://www.consili-um.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2019/06/17/central-asia-council-adopts-a-new-eu-strategy-for-the-region/.

- 146 European Commission, "EU-China—A Strategic Outlook."
- 147 Swedish Ministry for Foreign Affairs Department for Asia and the Pacific Region, "Summary of Government Communication—the Work on Issues Concerning China," https://www.regeringen.se/4a79db/contentassets/8a6d4e54b01d48ed-9c196a252d09aff4/summary-of-government-communication--the-work-on-issues-concerning-china.pdf; and Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "The Netherlands and China: A New Balance," May 2019, https://www.government.nl/documents/policy-notes/2019/05/15/china-strategy-the-netherlands--china-a-new-balance.
- 148 See Beth Oppenheim, "Europe Is at War Over Arms Exports," Foreign Policy, September 18, 2019, https://foreignpolicy. com/2019/09/18/europe-is-at-war-over-arms-exports/.
- 149 European Commission, "Explaining the European Union's Approach to Connecting Europe and Asia."
- 150 "A Transatlantic Agenda for the Indo-Pacific: Convergence and Credibility," Institut Montaigne, January 14, 2019, https:// www.institutmontaigne.org/en/events/transatlantic-agenda-indo-pacific-convergence-and-credibility.
- 151 U.S. Department of State, "U.S.-EU Statement on the Asia-Pacific Region," July 12, 2012, https://2009-2017.state.gov/r/pa/ prs/ps/2012/07/194896.htm.
- 152 France and the UK are both permanent members of the UN Security Council, and Germany is a nonpermanent member of the council for the period of 2019–2020.
- 153 Julianne Smith and Garima Mohan, "The Trump Administration's Indo-Pacific Strategy Needs Proof of Life," National Interest, December 3, 2019, https://nationalinterest.org/feature/trump-administrations-indo-pacific-strategy-needs-proof-life-101542.
- 154 Ana Swanson and Paul Mozur, "U.S. Blacklists 28 Chinese Entities Over Abuses in Xinjiang," New York Times, October 7, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/07/us/politics/us-to-blacklist-28-chinese-entities-over-abuses-in-xinjiang.html.



